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Mission
Working with its partners, the Authority will be a leader in providing quality safe, secure, sustainable and affordable 
transportation facilities and services to the airport’s customers and communities within the National Capital Region.

Vision 
To be the Transportation Hub for the National Capital Region

Strategic Directions
• To be an industry leader in the planning, development and operation of world-class airport facilities.
• To manage securely those elements of the airport operation for which the Authority is responsible, 
 and to proactively influence our partners to meet their responsibilities to assure security across the 
 entire airport campus.
• To operate the airport facilities in a safe manner and in compliance with all applicable federal regulations.
• To continue to work proactively with all levels of government, the cities of Ottawa and Gatineau, 
 local communities and major stakeholders to better serve the region.
• To foster partnerships that contribute to the viability of the airport and the socio-economic growth of the community.
• To develop and maintain productive, talented employees who are excited by their work, committed to 
 the Authority’s values and the achievement of its mission and business objectives.
• To provide the diverse and dynamic customer base with industry leading customer service.
• To further develop the commercial focus of the Authority.
• To manage the business in a financially, environmentally and socially responsible manner.
• To foster sustainability in all facets of its business and throughout the campus.

Organizational Values
The Authority conducts its business with:
• Responsibility; 
• Transparency;
• Accountability; and
• Integrity.

To reinforce the Airport Authority’s commitment to the environment, this year’s Annual Report is being distributed 
electronically, and where required, printed on an as-needed basis.

Salute to a retiring Air Canada pilot
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Message from  
the Chairman 
Joining the Board of Directors of the Ottawa International 
Airport Authority in 2008 was a homecoming of sorts, given 
that I started flying here in 1974 and earned my pilot’s 
licence in the skies surrounding the Ottawa International 
Airport. Needless to say, becoming Chairman of the Board 
in May of 2012 was a tremendous honour, and I am proud to 
share some of the highlights of the year.

Passenger volumes were very healthy early in the year. 
Events such as the NHL All-Star Game and Liberal Party 
convention brought a higher than usual number of visitors 
through the doors. We have long maintained that our 
volumes are a good barometer for what’s happening in the 
local economy, and 2012 confirmed that view. While volumes 
were healthy at the beginning of the year, the pace slowed 
later in the year as news of government cutbacks and losses 
in other sectors had an impact. We finished the year at 
4,685,956 passengers, which is a 1.3% increase over 2011. 
While consumers have been tightening their financial grip, 

the Authority has also been watching its finances carefully. 
Some of the “nice to haves” were cut and the focus was left 
on essential projects. The extra care paid off with earnings 
before depreciation of $27.6 million. Despite cuts, many 
projects were completed during the year – most notably the 
complete reconstruction of runway 07/25. 

You’ll read more later in this report, but I want to emphasize 
how much planning and attention to detail went into 
every aspect of the runway reconstruction project; from 
engineering and scheduling to communications and other 
logistics, every member of the team had one goal in mind 
– to complete the project as efficiently and accurately as 
possible. Closure of the east/west surface meant exclusive 
use of the north/south runway and changes in noise patterns 
over the region. With this in mind, contractors worked 
almost around the clock, a temporary asphalt plant was built 
on-site, advertisements were placed in local newspapers 
and information was regularly disseminated. I’m pleased 
to say that the project was completed early, and we were 
able to open the runway to traffic nearly three weeks ahead 
of schedule. My sincere thanks to everyone who made this 
project such a success, and special thanks to a wonderful 
community that was patient and understanding during the 
disruption.

Customer service was another area of focus during 2012. 
The passion for service excellence that the Authority team 
embodies has become contagious, and is shared across the 
campus and it has been well rewarded with high marks 
in customer satisfaction. The Airport Service Quality 
benchmarking program has honoured the airport for many 
years, with recent first and second place finishes in several 
categories. In 2012, the streak was kept intact, with a 2nd in 
North America (all airports) and 3rd in the world for airports 
that serve between two and five million passengers per year!

We view providing service, completing complex projects, and 
working with airlines to develop service to new destinations 
as our core business, but also as our responsibility. Airport 
operations create thousands of jobs and economic stimulus 
that makes a difference to the local economy, to the tune of 
more than $2.2 billion per year in total economic output. 
The Ottawa-Gatineau market is a strong one, and has proven 
to be somewhat resilient in challenging economic times, 
however, we will do everything in our power to provide it 
with more selection and flexibility so that it will continue to 
grow and help the community to prosper.

As Chairman, I am fortunate enough to work with a 
group of people that I am also proud to call friends. The 
Board of Directors is comprised of a variety of talents and 
personalities, but the one constant across the board is a keen 
interest in the airport and its operations. Each year brings 
change to the group, and 2012 was no different. We said 

Gilles Lalonde
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goodbye to Raymond Brunet, Eric McSweeney and James 
Wright, all of whom made a considerable difference during 
their terms. Particular thanks to Raymond who served as 
Chairman prior to my taking on the role. I am very pleased 
to extend a warm welcome to Craig Bater, Thom Bennett, 
Philippe Marion, Jacques Sauvé and Susan St. Amand who 
joined the Board in 2012. I am confident that each new 
member will contribute to the ongoing success of the airport 
and will take the same pleasure in being a part of such an 
interesting and ever-changing organization as those of us 
who have already served for a few years.

With our CEO Paul Benoit announcing his retirement, 
one of my first priorities, upon assuming responsibility 
as Chairman, was to set the wheels of a CEO search in 
motion. With the help of a special committee of the Board, 
an executive search firm was engaged, a list of criteria was 
developed, and we achieved our goal. I am particularly proud 
of the process we went through – it was thorough, it was fair 
and it was transparent. It was also, at times, daunting. How 
do you replace a founding President and CEO – especially 
one like Paul Benoit? There’s no question that the shoes we 
were required to fill were huge, but I am confident that the 
successful candidate, Mark Laroche, will bring his experience 
and unique talents to the Authority and together with the 
entire team, will build on the airport’s successes to date and 
forge a new path that will position us well for the future.

Speaking of Paul, I’m not sure there are words that can 
adequately express what he has meant to the airport, and 
indeed, to the region. The list of accomplishments under his 
watch is lengthy, including a major transformation of the 
facility to a true prize-winning international airport. It is a 
rare pleasure to serve with people that you like and respect. 
Working with Paul has been such a pleasure. I’m not sure 
the words “thank you” are enough, but on behalf of the 
Board of Directors and the Authority team, I would like to 
thank Paul for his years of dedication and passion. We will  
all miss him. 

Gilles Lalonde, Chairman of the Board

The section on the Authority’s 15th anniversary 
covers most of the impressive “bricks and mortar”  
accomplishments under Paul’s leadership including:  

• The opening of the U.S. Preclearance facility in 1997;

• The opening of the Combined Services Building  
 (now the Hendrick Building) in 2000; and

• The opening of the Passenger Terminal Building and  
 Parkade in 2003.

Here are some of his other, more personal successes: 

• The establishment of Project Clear Skies in 2004  
 which has invested more than $1 million to date;  

• Named Tourism Leader of the Year by Ottawa Tourism  
 in 2002;

• The launch of the Ottawa-Frankfurt flight in 2008;

• The creation of a military recognition and welcome  
 program in 2008 for repatriated soldiers;   

• Received a Canadian Military Forces Recognition  
 award from Department of National Defence in 2010;

• Named Community Builder of the Year by United Way  
 in 2012;

• Awarded the Queen’s Diamond Jubilee Medal in 2012; and

• Received the Inaugural Order of Ottawa from the City  
 of Ottawa and Mayor Watson in 2012.

These successes, coupled with the many organizational 
awards won over the years, confirm the indelible mark 
that Paul has left on the airport, and indeed, the region.

Paul Benoit
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Message from the 
President and CEO
Amazing. It’s a simple word, but it’s a word that perfectly 
describes the nearly 17 years that I have spent at this 
airport and back in Ottawa – a city I love and will continue 
to call home.

I think back to 1996, when the Airport Authority was just 
forming, and preparing to take over from Transport Canada 
and I remember an old, outdated terminal building that had 
so many limitations. Number one among them was the lack 
of pre-clearance facilities. Well, we took care of that issue 
pretty quickly and our transborder service grew by 50% 
almost immediately. That one project set a precedent for 
getting things done efficiently and cost effectively. The first 
Master Plan set a course for the following ten years with major 
projects such as the construction of the Combined Services 
Building (now known as the Hendrick Building), the central 
de-icing facility and of course, the new passenger terminal 
building and Parkade that were opened in 2003. As our 
facilities grew and evolved, so did our list of destinations and 

our passenger volumes. It wasn’t long before we were required 
to expand the terminal and the Parkade to accommodate 
the growth. In all, we have invested more than $500 million 
in infrastructure, and each project was completed on-time, 
on-budget, and without government funding. I’m extremely 
proud of that.

When I think of what’s happened in Ottawa, and indeed in the 
world since 1997, I am amazed at this city’s resilience. The 
ice storm of 1998 virtually paralyzed the region. But thanks 
to the diligence of our team, the airport remained open and 
operational. In 2001, both the contraction in the technology 
sector and the devastation of September 11th had an impact on 
life and on our business. Before long, however, this city and 
the aviation industry bounced back.

9/11, in particular, has had an enduring effect on the industry. 
The business of air travel has been refocused on public safety 
and security. Some would say that the glamour has been 
taken out of air travel. I would agree, for the most part. But, I 
would also say that we all have a responsibility to ensure that 
everything that can be done to keep passengers, aircraft and 
the airport as safe and secure as possible must be done. It’s the 
new normal, and we’ve been focused on hardening our facility 
ever since.

The airport has been widely recognized over the years for 
its contribution to Ottawa and Gatineau in areas such as 
tourism, business, architecture and accessibility, to name a 
few. It has also been much recognized for customer service 
and satisfaction, including being named 1st in North America 
and 2nd in the world (2-5 million passengers) in 2011. Some 
of my proudest moments were unfurling banners in the 
terminal that recognized the commitment of the entire airport 
community to providing our customers with a superior 
experience. We’ve always been in it together, and the awards 
are a tribute to great teamwork and a shared vision. 

Winning awards for customer satisfaction requires 
customers who are willing to take the time to complete 
a survey and share thoughts about how we’re doing. I’m 
very grateful to have always had the support of an engaged 
community that has provided thoughtful feedback, great 
ideas and suggestions for improvement. We’ve taken your 
comments to heart over the years, and used the feedback 
to guide our projects and investments. I hope you feel that 
your thoughts were heard, and that your trust in the airport 
and the Authority was well-earned. 

Supporting a community that has cheered us on over the years 
has been a passion of mine. I can say without a doubt that one 
of the things I’m most proud of is the establishment of Project 
Clear Skies, the Authority’s community giving program. We 
established the program to mark the first anniversary of the 
terminal, with a goal of giving $100,000 to important projects 

Paul Benoit
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in Ottawa-Gatineau each year for five years. Nine years later, 
the program is still in place and to date, we’ve invested  
$1 million in our community. We have helped organizations 
that often fall below the radar – many are not well known,  
but they all fill an urgent need and we are very happy to 
support them.

I’ve been often asked if I have any regrets from my time here. 
I would have to say that, while not necessarily a regret, but 
rather a disappointment, is the federal government’s archaic 
view of airports as a source of revenue rather than as critical 
infrastructure. I would wager a bet that every airport in 
Canada has examined its impact on the city and surrounding 
community it serves and I would also bet that in every case, 
the economic impact is tremendous. I truly hope that our 
elected officials open their eyes and their minds to supporting 
the growth and success of our airports and by extension, our 
communities, before we lose more business to airports south 
of the border. Support is provided to other modes of transport, 
so it’s time airports were treated equally and fairly. I trust my 
colleagues across the country will continue the fight and I 
wish them much success.

I’ve had the good fortune to work with many board members, 
and chairmen, all of whom have shared their experience and 
wisdom willingly. Most of all, they have trusted me and my 
team to manage the airport responsibly and effectively. I would 
like to thank them all for their support and friendship.

I won the airport lottery with the team of employees I 
inherited in 1997 and with the members who joined the 
Authority over the years - the commitment and talent of this 
group is second to none. Each of you has left an indelible mark 
on me, and I would like to say thank you for an incredible 
experience and many amazing memories.

I would also like to say thank you to everyone on the airport 
campus; from the Infoguide and Airport Watch volunteers, 
to the airlines, retailers, concessionaires and everyone in 
between. I’ve had the good fortune of developing many 
friendships and relationships in this industry and airport that I 
know will last forever. 

Finally, I would like to take this opportunity to wish my 
successor well. Mark, you’re taking on a sensational team, 
and I trust that you will learn from their vast experience and 
continue the tradition of success that they have created here. 

Safe travels and best wishes to all.

Paul Benoit, President and CEO
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2012 In Review
Happy 15th Anniversary!

In the mid 1990s, the federal government made the wise 
decision to transfer responsibility of managing Canada’s 
airports to local airport authorities that would be formed 
according to responsible governance principles and led by 
community-based boards of directors under 60-year leases 
with Transport Canada (TC). The Ottawa Airport Authority 
became a reality on February 1st, 1997 when the ceremonial 
keys to the airport were turned over to the first President 
and CEO, Paul Benoit.

When transfer to the Authority occurred, the book value 
of the assets of the Ottawa Airport was $75 million, and it 
did not cover its yearly cost of operation. The Authority 
took immediate action to improve the facility and set out 
on a path to completely change the face of the airport. 
Over the course of 15 years, more than $500 million 
has been invested in infrastructure and in operational 
improvements; air service has improved dramatically and 
our clients have come to expect a much higher level of 
safety, security and service. The following list represents 
some of the major infrastructure projects that have been 
planned and/or accomplished under the leadership of the 
Authority in its first 15 years, all of which address one of 
the three “s” categories. It’s important to note that all of 
the projects listed were completed with no government 
funding whatsoever.

Since transfer, the market has grown from just over 
3.1 million passengers to nearly 4.7 million in 2012 (an 
increase of more than 51%), and commercial aircraft 
movements have jumped from 77,000 to nearly 91,000 
in the same timeframe (an increase of 17%). European 
and international sun destinations have been added to 
our offerings, providing customers with more selection 
and options than ever before. This activity confirms 
that Ottawa-Gatineau has a dependable market that has 
sustained itself during economic difficulties.

From an economic impact perspective, the airport has 
grown from injecting $240 million per year into the local 
economy at transfer to an astounding $2.2 billion per year, 
as determined in a 2011 economic impact study. It goes 
without saying that our airport makes a difference to the 
financial wellbeing of this community.

Financial Health

Despite 2012 business pages that were filled with news of 
economic uncertainty in the U.S., Government of Canada 
deficit cutting plans and “affected” civil servants in Ottawa, 
the 2012 results for the airport reflect the stability and 
financial health of the Ottawa region. And although the 
year came out of the starting block at top speed but waned 
in the second half of the year, 2012 passenger volumes 
again broke previous years’ records, surpassing 4.6 million 
passengers, an increase of 1.3% over 2011. Transborder 
growth was surprisingly robust.   

Revenues in 2012 were 3% higher at $105.8 million 
compared to $103.1 million in 2011, reflecting the stable 
economy of Ottawa and slightly higher passenger volumes. 
As a result, the Authority finished 2012 by generating 
earnings before depreciation of $27.6 million compared 
to $27.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2011. As 
always, these earnings continue to be reinvested in airport 
operations and development in the interest of improving 
safety, efficiency and the customer experience. 

Project Project Cost Year   
  Completed

U.S. Preclearance 
Facility $3.4 million 1997

Hendrick Building/Central 
Deicing Facility $7 million 2000

Passenger Terminal 
Building $310 million 2003

Phase II Passenger 
Terminal Building $95 million 2008

Parking Expansion(s) $60 million 2004/2005/2010

Field Electrical Centre/
Runway Lighting $4 million 2010

Snow Removal 
Equipment/Fire Trucks $11 million 2010

Runway Rehabilitation:
04/22 07/25 14/32 $17 million 2011/2012/2014
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Going New Places

US Airways added to the mix of destinations with their new non-
stop service to Washington-Reagan Airport that began in March. 
This is the third US Airways hub serving Ottawa, along with 
Philadelphia, PA and Charlotte, NC.

WestJet’s new service to Fort Myers, FL was added in 
December, and was an immediate sell-out! Fort Myers is the 
fourth Florida destination with direct service from Ottawa, 
with Orlando, Tampa and Fort Lauderdale also being served.

Business Development:  
In the Building

iPad anyone? 
Master retail concessionaire, LS Travel Retail, installed 
a “Boutique iStore” automated kiosk in the domestic/
international holdroom near gate 18 in May. It garnered 
attention immediately, with a lot of chatter on Twitter about 
the merits of purchasing electronics from a vending machine. 
It certainly is very helpful for travellers who forget to pack their 
electronic devices! The venture proved so successful, a second 

unit was installed in October, near gate 15. These boutiques 
offer travellers the latest consumer electronics technology for 
convenient purchase, including Apple iPad and iPod devices.

Gear-Up

On April 4th, Vintage Wings founder, Michael Potter, and 
Paul Benoit cut the ribbon on the Gear-Up retail boutique. 
Located on level one in domestic arrivals, the store is the first 
retail initiative for Vintage Wings, and features high quality 
aviation heritage clothing, including t-shirts, jackets, sweaters 
and caps. According to Mr. Potter, “it’s about getting our 
message out” and furthering the Vintage Wings mission to 
“Commemorate, Educate and Inspire Canadians, especially 
young Canadians, about our rich aviation history”. 

Vintage Wings Founder, Michael Potter and 
Paul Benoit cut the ribbon on Gear-Up

PHOTO: PETER HANDLEY/VINTAGE WINGS OF CANADA
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Business Development:  
On the Property

In the last annual report, we told you about the CE Centre, 
which opened at the very end of 2011. Since its first event 
on December 26th, the centre has hosted a variety of 
musical events and large trade shows, but it had its real 
“coming out party” in January of 2012 when it hosted 
a truly one-of-a-kind event during the 2012 NHL All-
Star weekend. The centre was transformed into cultural 
interpretations of Canada’s NHL team cities, complete 
with perfectly themed decor, food and drink, and fantastic 
entertainment in each “city”. The party was the highlight of 
the All-Star weekend, aside from the game itself of course.

In the fall of 2012, the Shenkman Corporation, owners of 
the centre, penned a sponsorship deal to rename the facility 
the Ernst & Young Centre.

So what’s next?
As the airport quickly approaches terminal capacity of  
5 million passengers per year, we are thinking about the 
future and how our airside and groundside facilities will 
accommodate more users. To that end, we completed a 
significant project called “Airside Capacity, Apron, Terminal 
Layout Study and Concept Refinement”. The comprehensive 
analysis has identified a direction and has laid a proper 
foundation for the detailed planning and design of the next 
phase of the apron and terminal expansion. 

Communications

www.ottawa-airport.ca

The Authority launched its new website at the very end 
of 2011, to rave reviews. With a full year of information 
now tracked, the results prove that our clients want 
comprehensive information available at the click of a 
mouse (or the touch of a screen!), and they’re getting it. 
We recorded a total of 1,936,600 visits during the year. 
An additional 455,000 clients visited the newly launched 
mobile site. Not surprisingly, the busiest travel day of 
the year also generated a record day on the website as 
well, with 39,200 visits in a 24-hour period. Average visits 
hovered between 4,000 and 5,000 per day.

New pages that were specifically written for the new site 
provide our passengers with information that they most 
commonly look for. They include:  Travelling to the U.S. 
(16,200 visits); Connecting Flights (12,000 visits); First-
Time Flyers (11,500 visits);  and a significantly enhanced 
Frequently Asked Questions page (40,430 visits), which we 
are confident contributed to 15% fewer web comments  
submitted during the year. 

All-Star Game

Ottawa-Gatineau put on a first-class show from 
January 26th to 29th when the region welcomed 
hockey fans from across the continent and beyond 
for the 59th National Hockey League All-Star Game. 
From a wildly popular Fan Fair, to a Fantasy Draft, 
the skills competition, countless parties held all 
over the region, and the All-Star game itself, the 
enthusiasm for hockey reached a fever pitch in 
the capital city of Hockey Country. The Authority 
was a proud participant and supporter of the 
event, featuring All-Star pageantry throughout 
the arrivals area, and on the Parkade, playing an 
important part in ensuring that the players, NHL 
brass, and visitors were warmly welcomed. 

7
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 Domestic % Transborder % International % Total %

 1996 2,223,941  529,602    104,295  2,857,838  

 1997 2,435,534  9.51%  502,072 -5.20%  108,762  4.28% 3,046,368  6.60%

 1998  2,414,355  -0.87%  563,085  12.15%  133,108  22.38%  3,110,548  2.11%

 1999  2,426,288  0.49%  628,203  11.56%  157,116  18.04%  3,211,607  3.25%

 2000  2,562,282  5.61%  719,200  14.49%  152,863  -2.71% 3,434,345  6.94%

 2001  2,625,630  2.47%  618,694  -13.97%  146,971  -3.85% 3,391,295  -1.25%

 2002  2,445,770  -6.85%  600,365  -2.96%  170,751  16.18% 3,216,886  -5.14%

  2003  2,491,691  1.88%  588,088  -2.04%  182,566  6.92% 3,262,345  1.41%

 2004  2,736,779  9.84%  641,157  9.02%  231,949  27.05% 3,609,885  10.65%

  2005  2,779,895  1.58%  719,150  12.16%  236,388  1.91% 3,735,433  3.48%

  2006  2,807,377  0.99%  735,753  2.31%  264,626  11.95% 3,807,756  1.94%

  2007  3,052,813  8.74%  746,435  1.45%  289,280  9.32% 4,088,528  7.37%

 2008  3,255,540  6.64%  740,369  -0.81%  343,315  18.68% 4,339,225  6.13%

  2009  3,141,812  -3.49%  682,822  -7.77%  408,196  18.90% 4,232,830  -2.45%

  2010  3,303,170  5.14%  725,781  6.29%  444,943  9.00% 4,473,894  5.70%

  2011  3,429,310  3.82%  750,486  3.40%  444,830  -0.03% 4,624,626  3.37%

 2012  3,454,387  0.73%  775,040  3.27%  456,529  2.63% 4,685,956  1.33%

 2013  3,560,000  3.05%  807,800  4.22%  480,300  5.21%  4,848,100  3.45%

 2015  3,781,800  3.08%  875,900  4.10%  527,700  4.92% 5,185,400  3.44%

  2020  4,307,300  2.27%  1,042,800  3.04%  670,400  4.27% 6,020,500  2.62%

 2025  4,742,300  1.85%  1,203,000  2.78%  786,900  3.00% 6,732,200  2.15%

 2030  5,150,900  1.60%  1,379,000  2.60%  913,100  2.85% 7,443,000  1.94%

Passenger growth by sector
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Getting Social

Social media continues to grow in popularity and use as a 
customer service tool. The airport’s share of voice is also 
growing as more of our clients and friends turn to Facebook 
and especially Twitter as a means of gaining information, 
sharing experiences and solving issues. We agree that social 
media is, and will continue to be, a very important tool going 
forward, and we have set goals for growth in the coming  
years, both in terms of friends and followers, but also as to  
the kinds of social media tools that we will use to grow  
our on-line community.

 facebook.com/FlyYOW
 
 twitter.com/FlyYOW and @FlyYOW
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Building Community

Plane Pull 7
Terrible weather didn’t deter a record number of teams  
and an enthusiastic crowd from descending on the site  
of the 2012 Plane Pull Challenge for Charity on  
September 22nd. A sold-out field of 34 teams pulled an 
Air Canada A320 and raised a record $70,000 for Project 
Clear Skies and the Sens Foundation. When the last pull 
was completed and the times recorded, the WestWay Taxi 
Roadrunners were victorious with an incredible  
4.26 second pull!

The Plane Pull continues to grow in size, fun and fundraising 
success thanks to our generous sponsors, donors, volunteers, 
and, of course, our spirited teams that register and solicit 
pledges. The tally after seven years is an amazing $290,000 
that has been put to much-needed use in our community. 

Thank you to all our event sponsors!

WestWay Taxi Roadrunners

Sparty arriving in style!

Everyone loved Pandora, the bald eagle –  
member of the Predator Bird Services Inc. team

9
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     Rent to 
  Annual Aircraft Annual Transport Annual
 Passengers Growth Movements Growth Canada Growth

 1997 3,046,368 6.6% 67,867  $3,977,000  

 1998  3,110,548  2.1%  77,202  13.8%  $5,301,000  33.3%

 1999  3,211,607  3.3%  81,808  6.0%  $5,948,000  12.2%

 2000  3,434,345  6.9%  78,301  -4.2%  $6,145,000  2.6%

 2001  3,391,295  -1.3%  72,630  -7.2%  $8,840,000  43.9%

 2002  3,216,886  -5.1%  68,499  -5.7%  $11,005,000  24.5%

 2003  3,262,345  1.4%  69,798  1.9%  $11,329,000  2.9%

 2004  3,609,885  10.7%  69,626  -0.2%  $11,643,000  2.8%

 2005  3,735,433  3.5%  66,146  -5.0%  $12,958,000  11.3%

 2006  3,807,756  1.9%  65,396  -1.1%  $12,487,000  -3.6%

 2007  4,088,528  7.4%  72,342  10.6%  $11,546,000  -7.5%

 2008  4,339,225  6.1%  79,777  2.0%  $10,134,120  -12.2%

 2009  4,232,830  -2.5%  81,120  1.7%  $7,310,208  -27.9%

 2010  4,473,894  5.7%  86,009  6.0%  $6,118,244  -16.3%

 2011  4,624,626  3.4%  90,949  5.7%  $7,341,116  20.0%

  2012  4,685,956  1.3%  90,697  -0.3%  $7,700,000  4.9%

 2013  4,848,100  3.5%  92,903  2.4%  $8,000,000  3.9%

 2014  5,013,000  3.4%  95,346  2.6%  $8,300,000  3.8%

 2015  5,185,400  3.4%  98,168  3.0%  $8,600,000  3.6%

 2016  5,356,000  3.3%  100,622  2.5%  $9,000,000  4.7%

 2017  5,525,200  3.2%  103,029  2.4%  $9,300,000  3.3%

Notes:
Federal Government Net Book Value at time of transfer: $75M     
Total rent projected 1997-2017: $183M     
Forecast passenger volumes are as provided by outside consultants.     
For financial planning purposes, the Authority forecasts on a more conservative basis.     

Five-year Forecast 

 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 Total

Wage bill $ 15,733   $ 15,628   $ 16,885   $ 17,922   $ 18,605   $ 84,773 

Payments in lieu of municipal taxes   4,272    4,486    4,560    4,788    4,982   23,088 

Operations costs   22,000    21,000    25,000    26,000    27,000   121,000 

Capital costs  31,000    12,000    21,000    27,000    24,000    115,000 

 $ 73,005   $ 53,114   $ 67,445   $ 75,710   $ 74,587  $ 343,861

Notes:      
Wage bill includes benefits;      
Payments in lieu of municipal taxes (PILT) - paid to the City of Ottawa; and
Operations costs do not include rent, PILT, payroll, depreciation and interest expenses.    

Summary of amounts spent in the Ottawa region ($000)
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Project Clear Skies
The Authority’s community giving program reached 
an important milestone in 2012, when it surpassed the 
$1,000,000 mark in program funding since its inception  
in 2004. 

During the 2012 funding wave, the following  
organizations received our support:

As you can tell, these aren’t necessarily all glamorous 
projects, but they are projects that certainly make a 
difference in the lives of those who use the services 
provided by the agencies. And, this list represents a small 
group of organizations chosen from a very long list of 
applicants.

 

Organization Project Approved
  Funds

Arche Agapé inc Build and install access ramps $ 20,000

Association francophone de parents d’enfants Multimedia learning equipment
dyslexiques ou ayant tout autre trouble d’apprentissage   $ 7,200

Centre de Services Guigues Kitchen renovations $ 20,000

Centre Espoir Sophie Furniture $ 6,600

Fondation Jardins Éden – Résidence “C” Supply and install an elevator $ 32,700

Hopewell Furniture and multimedia equipment $ 2,500

La maison Mathieu Froment-Savoie Specialized palliative-care chairs $ 12,825

Le Grenier des Collines Commercial fridges and freezers $ 10,100

Maison Marie-Louise Sewing machines and commercial 
 carpet underlay $ 4,250

Matthew House Refugee Services (Ottawa) Inc. Multimedia and commercial moving equipment $ 10,000

Multifaith Housing Initiative Walkway reconstruction and landscaping $ 10,000

The Olde Forge Community Resource Centre Furniture and specialized recreational $ 3,800 
 and program equipment

Operation Come Home Furniture and multimedia equipment $ 12,000

Options Bytown Non-Profit Housing Corporation Motorized container mover and installation 
 of fence with surveillance cameras $ 12,000

Serenity Renewal for Families Window coverings and installation of 
 cupboards and shelves $ 8,300

The Sexual Assault Support Centre of Ottawa Conversion of a storage room into a support 
 services room $ 10,000

St. Joe’s Supper Table Installation of a new kitchen floor $ 6,000

Valerie’s Flutter Foundation Portable display unit and beading equipment $ 3,300

 Total $ 191,575
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 Giving from the heart 
Authority employees continued to show their generosity 
in 2012 by giving to a number of worthy initiatives. $7,890 
was raised during the annual United Way workplace giving 
campaign through events such as dress down days, raffles and 
the annual barbeque.

Our annual holiday collection campaign also raised a record 
$10,000 in addition to many boxes of non-perishable food 
items, all in support of the Ottawa Food Bank. From firefighter 
boot drives and coins collected from the water features, to 
the individual donations of food and money made by our 
employees, airport campus partners, and Infoguide volunteers, 
we came together to make a difference. Representatives from 
the Food Bank were delighted with the contribution at a 
time of year when they desperately need help. Our thanks to 
everyone who gave so generously.

 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Revenues  $         86,430   $        83,798   $        89,723   $      103,058   $       105,845 

Expenses before depreciation 72,113   69,039   72,226   75,167   78,232 

Earnings before depreciation 14,317   14,759   17,497   27,891   27,613 

Capital expenditures 31,306   12,085   31,816   27,079   24,403 

AIF revenues  27,816   27,261   28,254   37,732   39,379 

Five-year Review ($000)

Airport Authority’s Krista Kealey presents Ottawa Food 
Bank Executive Director, Peter Tilley, with the  proceeds  

of the 2012 Drive Away Hunger campaign.

Good neighbours

A large brush fire broke out on the afternoon of  
July 12th between Moodie Drive and Old Richmond 
Road, close to Lime Kiln Trail, on NCC property. Heavy 
smoke from the 40-hectare fire was visible in much of 
south and central Ottawa and as far away as Gatineau, 
and a layer of ash blanketed much of the city.  
Drought-like conditions, high winds and extreme 
heat made fighting the fire extremely difficult. 
Approximately 60-70 firefighters were on-scene 
continuously, but difficult terrain made accessing 
the fire all the more grueling. On July 16th, the City 
of Ottawa called on the airport for help. The Airport 
Authority’s Aircraft Rescue and Firefighting (ARFF) 
vehicles were dispatched to the scene to assist the 
combat. ARFF vehicles are specially equipped with 
a compressed foam system that introduces air and 
bubbles to a final foam solution that is used to blanket 
the fire and can extinguish the same amount of fire in 
two minutes that would take traditional firefighting 
methods an hour or more. Because the ARFF vehicles 
have off-road capabilities, they were able to get to areas 
where the city vehicles were not able to reach. The 
fire was brought under control, with remaining crews 
attending to hot spots and, thankfully, no firefighters 
were injured during the week-long ordeal.  

12
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Customer Service Stars

Going above and beyond to delight our customers is a 
growing theme. Considering that 12 campus employees 
were nominated as Stars of the City this year, and that we 
receive many comment cards and e-mails throughout the 
year with words of appreciation for the help our clients  
and visitors receive, it’s no wonder we are held in such  
high regard.

One group that contributes to the overall customer service 
impression is the Infoguide volunteers. The group of 80+ 
men and women go above and beyond by regularly 

with missing luggage), recommending interesting sights 
and events in the city, providing airport information to 
reuniting passengers with family and friends (and often 
people who aren’t familiar with air travel, and offering a 
smiling face to tired travellers who just need to know how 
to get to their next destination. In 2012, they delighted our 
clients for a total of 7,310 hours, and four among them 
reach their 20-year milestone with the program during the 
year. Now that’s dedication!

Airport Service Quality Awards 
The Ottawa International Airport continued to delight 
passengers in 2012. We are pleased to report that the 
airport finished 2nd in North America and 3rd in the world 
(2-5 million passengers). We take extreme pride in the fact 
that our total satisfaction score improved from 4.47 out of 
a possible 5.0 points in 2011 to 4.51 in 2012. Our aim is 
firmly on the top spot, and all efforts will focus on areas  

Happy Valentine’s Day

from the Airport Authority and all of the companies 
that operate at the Ottawa International Airport

Thank you for loving us so much, 
you made us 

# again
#  airport in North America in 2011

Sharing the love

The official announcement  
about our airport’s ASQ  
rankings for 2011 coincided  
with February 14th, so we decided 
to share the love and show our 
customers our appreciation for 
ranking us #1 in North America 
and #2 in the world (2-5 million 
passengers). Airport Authority 
employees hit the terminal to 
hand out cards that could be 
redeemed at Tim Hortons for 
a free coffee or tea. When the 
coupons were counted, more 
than 3,000 customers enjoyed a 
beverage on us!

Airport Authority’s Scott Boyle,  
Richard Tracy and Mike Lafreniere  

offering a coffee valentine to our customers

Rideau Centre’s Lisa Rochon with Vera Mahoney

A Star among us
Vera Mahoney, longtime Infoguide volunteer, was 
recognized for her determination to fix a customer’s 
travel issue. When a couple departing on a cruise of a 
lifetime realized that one passport was missing from their 
baggage, and knew for certain that they had left home 
with it in hand, Vera saved the day. She contacted the taxi 
company that provided transportation to the airport; she 
contacted the airline to advise them of the situation; she 
contacted the airport detachment of the Ottawa Police 
Service; she inquired at Canada Border Services Agency 
in case it had been turned in to their office; and then 
she called the taxi company again (and again) to insist 
that they search the car. Low and behold, the passport 
was found in the vehicle’s trunk. Because connections 
were tight, Vera worked with the airline to rebook the 
couple’s flights to ensure that they would get to Toronto 
Pearson Airport, make their flight to South America and 
ultimately enjoy their long awaited cruise. The couple was 
so grateful for Vera’s help that they toasted her each night 
of their holiday.

In October, Vera was honoured at the annual Stars of the 
City awards banquet for her exemplary customer service. 
She was chosen from all other nominees as the winner of 
the “What’s Lost is Found” category.

PHOTO: TECKLES PHOTOGRAPHY
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where we can improve the customer experience. Thanks to 
everyone whose efforts contributed to raising our score – 
keep up the great work!

ASQ Audit

DKMA, the company that manages the Airport Service Quality 
(ASQ) program on behalf of Airports Council International, 
has begun auditing participating airports to ensure that 
the program is properly run and that the results are above 
reproach. Ottawa’s program was on its list for examination in 
2012 and, according to the audit, not only are our results in 
compliance with the ASQ guidelines regarding verification 
of flight details, we also returned the cleanest sample for 
the quarter that was audited. Accordingly, our program 
management was recognized by DKMA.

Safety – It’s How We Do Business

The Airport Authority’s Safety Management System (SMS) is a 
systematic, explicit and comprehensive process for managing 
safety risks at the airport. As with all management systems, 
our SMS provides for goal setting, planning and measuring 

 
performance. It provides the Authority with the processes to 
anticipate and address safety issues before they lead to 
an incident or accident. Additionally, our SMS also provides 
management with the ability to deal effectively with accidents, 
occurrences and close-calls so that valuable lessons can be 
applied to improve safety and efficiency going forward. 

In November 2005, the International Civil Aviation 
Organization (ICAO) amended ANNEX 14, which set SMS as 
a regulatory standard for all international airports. Transport 
Canada (TC) adopted the ICAO standards and called for the 
implementation of SMS for Tier 1 Airports in Canada, in a 
phased-in approach, commencing in 2008. The Authority 
completed full SMS program implementation in 2011. In 
2012, TC completed a program validation inspection of our 
SMS for regulatory compliance.

Safety And Security –  
Practice, Practice, Practice

The Authority’s commitment to safety and security is as 
strong as ever, and although some efforts are more visible, 
such as the Canine Unit’s activity in and around the 
terminal, much of the effort is behind the scenes and less 
visible. 

A series of exercises and training sessions were held 
throughout the year to educate and test the Authority’s 
response to a variety of scenarios. Two threat and risk 
assessment training sessions for security incidents were 
held for designated campus employees who deal with 
security incidents at pre-board screening checkpoints and 
in hold bag screening. And several “Red Teaming” exercises 
were staged to test procedures at security points, in public 
areas, around the airport perimeter and at access gates. 
Such exercises were conducted without notice to ensure 
that procedures were tested in real life conditions. Once 
completed, the results were analyzed and lessons learned 
were shared with campus partners.

A comprehensive session on understanding the risk of 
earthquakes in the National Capital Region was hosted by 
the Authority. University of Ottawa PhD Candidate Kate 
Ploeger, who is an award-winning speaker on the topic, took 
approximately 50 airline representatives and first responders 
through the science of earthquakes, the risks, and the 
potential losses from such an event. The presentation was 
followed-up by a group tabletop exercise to identify the various 
levels of interdependency that exists between all companies 
and agencies that operate at the Ottawa Airport.

Shelter from a storm

After experiencing several irregular operations 
on the airfield during inclement weather, the 
Authority invested in several Zumro inflatable 
shelters. The 400 ft2 temporary shelters can 
be inflated in three to five minutes and can 
accommodate approximately 130 people 
(standing). They can also be repurposed as a 
command post or triage unit as required. The 
tents, which occupy three square feet when 
deflated, are stored on an Authority security 
vehicle for quick dispatch when required. 
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The Airport’s firefighters also participated in extensive training 
in 2012, including a live fire training recertification for 
Emergency Response Services.

A major live emergency exercise was also carried out in 
June, including more than 100 employees and volunteers. 
The event was intended to test the emergency response 
capabilities during a suspected bomb threat and a resulting 
aircraft evacuation. Participating agencies included the 
Ottawa Police Service (Airport Unit, Explosive Detection 
Unit and others), Royal Canadian Mounted Police, Ottawa 
Paramedic Service, Ottawa Fire Services, WestJet Airlines, 
Transport Canada (TC) as well as several Authority 
departments and numerous Authority volunteers.

The Authority is required to hold such a major live exercise 
every three years under TC regulations.

Operations

With most of the physical facility and many of its systems 
nearing 10 years of age, some upgrades are required. Airside 
surfaces that are nearly two decades old require attention and 
action. Many of the operational activities that follow deal with 
lifecycle renewal that is an ongoing issue for any large facility, as 
well as major projects that hadn’t been undertaken since before 
transfer from the federal government. In all cases, the projects 
were clearly aligned with the Authority’s mission statement, and 
directed at a better experience for our customers. 

A runway success
The Authority completed part two of a three-part runway 
reconstruction project in 2012, when it reworked and 
resurfaced east-west runway 07/25. 

The massive project included the removal of the asphalt 
layer and regrading of the base to improve drainage, runway 
lighting and electrical wire replacement, construction of 
Runway End Safety Areas (RESAs) at both ends, replacement 

of NAV CANADA’s Instrument Landing System (ILS) and 
surface repaving.

Because the impending closure of the runway would direct 
all commercial traffic onto north-south runway 14/32, 
a comprehensive communications plan was required to 
inform the community. Advertisements were placed in the 
Ottawa Citizen and LeDroit, as well as in several community 
publications in the most affected areas. Contact was also 
made with city councillors in Ottawa and in affected areas of 
Gatineau so that their offices would be prepared to answer or 
redirect any calls received about changes in noise patterns.

Surface maintenance

With the closure of runway 07/25 and exclusive use of 
14/32, surface conditions were monitored even more 
closely than usual for rubber build-up and friction 
characteristics. Rubber removal was done as necessary 
and proper friction levels were maintained.

In order to always have a current index of all 
surfaces on the airfield, the Authority invested in a 
SAAB 900T friction tester which was acquired from 
Tradewind Scientific. The vehicle allows us to test 
the runways and taxiways more frequently.

15

Ottawa Citizen Advertisement



Annual Report 2012                                                                                                                                                                                               

Project Fun Facts
• Runway length: 8,000 ft (2438 m)
• Runway width: 200 ft (61 m)
• New RESAs: 300 m long, 150 m wide
• 576,000 m3 of earth was moved
• 75,000 tons of new asphalt were laid
• 10 km of trenching were dug for electrical cables

 
• A portable asphalt plant was constructed on-site
• 100 employees worked on the site daily
• 8,000 tons of gravel were added to the runway 
  per day (June 12th to 14th) for grading
• 61 unique project-related noise complaints (far fewer 
  than expected) were reported due to construction

The project, which began on June 1st, roared to life very 
quickly, and followed a very comprehensive project plan.
 An SMS safety case was also completed to account for any 
related issues that could arise, such as bird activity, dust, 
and foreign object debris (FOD) on the site. Preparation of 
the RESA location at the east end uncovered 114 steel encased 
concrete piles that were driven 25 feet into the bedrock. A bit 
of research confirmed that they were installed in 1958 by DND 
as a stabilizing force for the original ILS so that nearby train 
traffic would not disturb the system. The piles were cut back 
five feet below grade to remove any potential hazard.

R.W. Tomlinson Ltd., the general contractor and Black & 
McDonald, the prime sub-contractor, along with the rest 
of the construction partners, worked 16-hour days, six 
days per week during most of the project to ensure that it 
was kept on track. The dry weather allowed the crews to 
maximize their time on the construction site. Extra effort 
was taken to minimize the impact on our airline partners 
and, especially, the community that was affected by changes 
in aircraft patterns and related noise.

The runway was last resurfaced in 1994, when the airport was 
managed by TC, prior to the establishment of the Authority 
and transfer of operational responsibility from the federal 
government to the Authority in 1997. Prior to construction, 
the runway met all TC guidelines for contouring and safety, 
whereas the runway now meets the standards set out by the 
International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) and the 
United States Federal Aviation Authority (FAA).

Team Runway 07/25

PHOTO: © J. HARRINGTON/ICON IMAGING 2012 WWW.ICONIMAGING.CA
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In and Out
One of the most visible projects in the terminal was the 
replacement of the revolving doors that bring our customers 
in the front of the facility. The new sliding doors and vestibules 
resolved an ongoing customer complaint about the difficulty of 
using the revolving doors, increased the safety and reliability of 
the doorways, and eased entry and exit.

More kiosks = more efficient service
Self-service is becoming the new norm at most airports. 
The increased ease and convenience of kiosks coupled with 

increased customer familiarity is taking a growing number 
of our passengers away from check-in counters. For 2012, 
the following use of self-service kiosks was recorded:
• Number of baggage tags issued: 411,139 
	 (an	increase	of	more	than	345%	over	2011)
• Number of kiosk transactions: 1,005,734 
 (an increase of more than 48% over 2011)

Because of the mounting demand, the Authority installed 
five additional kiosks in 2012, which serve our domestic, 
international and transborder carriers.

The Runway 07/25 Resurfacing Project is finished ahead of schedule and under budget,

due to the crew
R.W. Tomlinson Ltd. | Black & McDonald | D&H Fencing | Western Signs and Line Painting Ltd. | James Landscaping 
The Miller Group | Roto-Mill Inc. | Greenwood Paving | Beacon Lite Ltd. | Cumberland Ready Mix | Ritchie’s Welding 
USL-1 | Fairhill Moffatt and Woodland Inc. | Direct Bore Ltd. | Safe Bore Ltd. | DVG Construction Co. | John Sweeping

Stantec Consulting Inc. | GENIVAR | Turner & Townsend cm2r | Harvey Airfield Services Inc. | NAV CANADA

The Ottawa International Airport 
Authority is happy to announce  
that Runway 07/25 has reopened for 
business. Thanks to the hard work and 
dedication of the crews who worked 
16-hour days, 6 days per week, the 
massive runway reconstruction project 
that began on June 1st was finished  
well ahead of schedule. 

We would like to thank general 
contractor, R.W. Tomlinson Ltd. 
and prime sub-contractor, Black 
& McDonald who understood the 
importance of keeping the project  
on an extremely tight schedule in  
an effort to minimize the impact on  
our community. And thanks to  
the community for enduring  
the changes in aircraft  
patterns and resulting  
noise during the project. 

This $14 million project was completed 
ahead of schedule and under budget  
without government subsidy, and is 
being paid for by the Airport Improvement 
Fee. For more information, visit  
www.ottawa-airport.ca.

You heard us
and we heard you.

Ottawa Citizen Advertisement
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Checked-in – now what?
Once comfortably situated at the departure gate, more and 
more passengers are taking advantage of the Wi-Fi service 
that the Authority offers our customers free of charge. 
In fact, additional wireless access points were installed 
throughout the terminal to expand Wi-Fi coverage and 
more bandwidth was added to accommodate the growing 
number of users.
•	 Number	of	Wi-Fi	users:	313,978	
 (an increase of 25% over 2011)

Wi-Fi – it’s not just for passengers
The Wi-Fi system was also expanded into our bag rooms 
and onto the apron areas by the bridges and gates to help 
the carriers track baggage and process their flights more 
efficiently.

Speaking of baggage
The Authority has started a multi-year project to upgrade 
our baggage handling systems and baggage screening 
equipment. As passenger levels continue to grow, the 
number of bags also continues to increase and an upgrade 
of the systems is now required to keep up with demand. 

In April, the Board approved $30M for the upgrade and 
CATSA will also provide funding for screening related costs. 
The approved project will see an addition of outbound 
domestic/international capacity of roughly 50%. This will 
be largely invisible to passengers as the systems are in 
operational areas of the facility, but they will experience the 
benefits of more efficient baggage delivery.  In addition, the 
transborder area will be modified to relocate the screening  
equipment to a back-of-house area and to increase capacity 
by 50%. Perhaps the most visible aspect of the project 
will be the addition of a baggage carousel in the domestic 
arrivals area.

The project requires the relocation of roughly 2,000 m2 of 
existing occupant space to create vacant space for the baggage 
system expansion. New buildings will be constructed to 
accommodate the displaced tenant functions; contracts for the 
related construction projects were publicly tendered and work 
began late in 2012. 

Origin and Destination

 1997 20

 1998 21

 1999 25

 2000 26

 2001 29

 2002 30

 2003 32

 2004 25

 2005 39

 2006 44

 2007 49

 2008 49

 2009 49

 2010 50

 2011 49

 2012 49

Total Nonstop 
Destinations

 1997  68,000 

 1998  77,202 

 1999  81,808 

 2000  78,301 

 2001  72,630 

 2002  68,499 

 2003  69,798 

 2004  69,626 

 2005  66,146 

 2006  65,396 

 2007  72,342 

 2008  79,777 

 2009  81,120 

 2010  86,009 

 2011  90,949 

 2012  90,697 

Aircraft 
Movements

 Domestic Transborder International  
   (Weekly)

1997  82   21   3  

1998  88 23   6  

1999  101   39   7  

2000  93   43   7  

2001  84   30   7  

2002  80   35   8  

2003  81   35   7  

2004  71   35   7  

2005  60   32   9  

2006  60   29   9  

2007  70   31   11  

2008  77   32   13  

2009  80   29   14  

2010  86   30   17  

2011  93   30   22  

2012  91   31   25  

 

Daily Nonstop Flights

90%	of	traffic	(estimated)
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It’s about service
Additional gate counter podiums were added at gates 11, 
12, 14 and 15 to speed the boarding process for the larger 
aircraft that frequent those gates.

 CBSA Cargo
Cargo transportation is a growing business at the Ottawa 
Airport. In an effort to accommodate the growth, we worked 
with CBSA to expand their cargo facilities. The CBSA/Air Cargo 
project consisted of the renovation of space in the Aeroterm 
air cargo building. Three areas of the building were implicated, 
including two existing spaces occupied by CBSA and an 
additional space CBSA expanded into. Construction was done 
in three phases to accommodate 

CBSA’s ongoing operation. Now completed, the renovated 
space provides CBSA with additional workstations, private 
washroom and shower facilities, a locker room, a new larger 
public reception counter area, an arming and detention 
room, an interview room, a kitchenette and a boardroom. 
The project, which affected approximately 434 m2, was 
completed in the first half of 2012 at a cost of  
approximately $600,000.

Cool Science Saturdays

The Canadian Aviation and Space Museum hosted 
a science fair of sorts, appropriately during 
Winterlude, where cold became a “reason to get  
active, celebrate, discover and enjoy science”. 
Organizations invited scientists, researchers and 
specialists to offer families fun and fascinating science 
activities, workshops and displays. The Authority’s 
own Matt Orrbine was there to talk about how winter 
weather presents many challenges to airports and 
airlines. He shared how the airport clears runways, 
how airplanes are deiced and how the operation 
changes to ensure that passengers can travel –  
even in the most extreme weather conditions.

19

An Olympic homecoming

The airport community rolled out the red carpet to 
welcome home some of the area’s finest athletes after 
the end of the XXX Olympiad in London, England, and 
after the Paralympic Games a few weeks later.  With the 
help of nearly two dozen members of the Ottawa Police 
Service Pipe Band, along with hundreds of fans, family 
and friends, the athletes were visibly moved at the 
heartfelt appreciation of the boisterous crowds.  

Conlin McCabe, Men’s Eight Silver Medalist
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  “The knowledge and real world experience our  
co-op students gain through their work terms with 
the Ottawa International Airport is invaluable!  They 
return to the classroom with a renewed enthusiasm 
for what they are learning and a clearer sense of the 
industry’s expectations.  Students tell me that they are 
provided with challenging assignments while on co-op, 
which is why so many return for a second and third 
work term and, of course, full-time jobs when they 
become available.  The success of Georgian’s Aviation 
Management co-op program is possible because of the 
support and commitment from dedicated employers 
like the Ottawa International Airport!”

Sara Christensen
Co-op Consultant, External Development 
Aviation Management & Computer Studies

Senior Management Team 
(Left to right) Krista Kealey, Vice President, Communications and Public Affairs, Ian Bell, Vice President,  
Infrastructure and Technology, Louise Bergevin, Executive Assistant to the President and CEO, Paul Benoit, President  
and CEO, Lisa Dwyer Hurteau, Vice President, Legal Affairs, Michael Crockatt, Vice President, Business Development  
and Marketing, John Weerdenburg, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

It’s All About The People

The Ottawa Airport has had a healthy relationship with 
Georgian College in Barrie, Ontario, since pre-transfer.  
That relationship is still very much intact and has, in 
fact, grown over the years. The college offers a three year 
diploma program in Aviation Management, which includes 
a paid co-op placement component which means that 
students can graduate with the equivalent of one year of 
work experience in the aviation industry.

Through this co-op placement program, the Authority has 
employed more than a dozen Georgian students to work 
with us and gain valuable experience in operations and 
airport planning. We have also been fortunate enough to 
secure a number of Georgian College alumni with term and 
permanent employment placements over the years.

The Authority has helped shape the program over the years 
as well, through participation in its Advisory Board. Jean-Luc 
Charbonneau, Manager, Operations Response and Emergency 

Planning, contributes throughout the year and “helps to 
prepare the next generation of aviation professionals.”
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Corporate 
Governance, 
Accountability and 
Transparency
The Ottawa International Airport Authority’s mission is 
to work with its partners to be a leader in providing safe, 
secure, sustainable and affordable transportation facilities 
and services to the airport’s customers and communities 
within the National Capital Region.

The Board of Directors

The adoption of the National Airports Policy in 1994 
resulted in the creation of local airport authorities across 
the country. These authorities were first created with 
community-appointed Boards of Directors which were 
tasked with overseeing the management of their local 
facility.  

The Ottawa International Airport Authority’s Board of 
Directors follows these guidelines, which are included in 
the Authority’s by-laws:  

• includes professional representation nominated by  
 all three levels of government as well as community  
 and business organizations;  
• directors shall not be elected officials or government 
 employees;
• each director has a fiduciary duty to the Airport 
 Authority;
• meets 8 to 10 times during the year; 
• views its principal responsibility as overseeing the  
 conduct of the business and supervising management  
 to ensure that long-term goals and strategies are met;  
 and
• must meet Conflict of Interest rules; adhere to the 
 Code of Business Conduct, and the Public  
 Accountability Principles.     

Each director has filed a conflict of interest declaration for 
2012, as required by the Authority’s by-laws. Furthermore, 
all directors are in compliance with the conflict of interest 
and code of conduct guidelines noted above. 

Revised By-laws

The Authority established by-laws at incorporation in 1995, 
which were first amended in 2003 and further amended in 
2010. Under the current by-laws the selecting bodies that 
provide nominees to the 14-member Board are as follows:

Selecting Bodies Number of 
  Directors nominated 
Minister of Transport 
(Government of Canada) 2
Government of the 
Province of Ontario 1
City of Ottawa 2
City of Gatineau 1
Ottawa Chamber of Commerce 1
Ottawa Tourism  1
Chambre de commerce de Gatineau 1
Ottawa Centre for Research and Innovation 
(now called Invest Ottawa) 1
Ottawa Macdonald-Cartier 
International Airport Authority (at large) 4
TOTAL 14

Under the by-laws revised in 2010, the Air Transport 
Association of Canada (ATAC) ceased to be a selecting body.  
In 2013, at the end of the term of ATAC’s current nominee, 
this Board seat will become an “at large” position.   

A director’s term of office is a maximum of three years, and 
each director may serve up to three terms, thereby allowing 
a director to serve a maximum of nine years. Amendments 
to the by-laws in 2010 permit one director to extend his 
maximum term by one year.

The qualifications required of a director are included in the 
by-laws.  Collectively, the directors shall have experience in 
the fields of law, engineering, accounting and management, 
and air carrier management. In addition, the by-laws 
include restrictions to eliminate possible conflicts of 
interest arising from relationships with selecting bodies, 
thereby ensuring the independence of directors and 
reinforcing their fiduciary responsibilities to the Authority.  
The Governance Committee has the power to ensure that 
the selecting bodies provide candidates for nomination to 
the Board having the skills and expertise necessary for the 
Board as a whole to carry out its duties.
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The following represents the composition of the Board of Directors as at December 31, 2012.    
 

 Director Name and Position Occupation Selecting Body and Year 
     Appointed

  Gilles Lalonde (2) (3)  President and CEO, Ville de Gatineau
  Chairman of the Board Provance Technologies Inc. 2008
  Chair, Executive Committee
  Chair, Governance, 
  Human Resources & 
  Compensation Committee   
  
  Patrick Kelly (1) (2) (3) President,  Ottawa Tourism
  Vice-Chair  Ottawa Convention Centre 2007
  
  

  Michael Skrobica (1) (2) Vice-President,  Air Transport Association
  Secretary Industry Monetary Affairs,  of Canada
  Chair, Audit Committee Air Transport Association 2004
   of Canada
  

  Craig Bater (4) Partner,  Ottawa Chamber of  
   Augustine, Bater & Binks LLP Commerce
    2012
 
  

  Thom Bennett (1) President,  Minister of Transport
   Bennett Insurance  (Government of Canada)
   Agency Limited 2012
  
  

  John Boyd (1) Partner,  Province of Ontario
   Professionals for 2010
   Independent Planning
  

  Chris Carruthers (4) Retired MD,  At large
   Health Care Consultant 2010
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 Director Name and Position Occupation Selecting Body and Year 
    Appointed

  Ron Clifton (3) (4)  President,  Ottawa Centre for Research
  Chair, Major Infrastructure  Clifton Group and Innovation
  and Environment Committee International Limited 2007
  
  

  Barbara Farber (2)  President,  City of Ottawa
   Leikin Group Inc. 2010
    At Large
    2007

  

  Philippe Marion (1) (3) President,  Chambre de commerce de 
   PGPM Accounting Gatineau
    2012
  
  

  Brendan McGuinty (2) (3) President,  City of Ottawa
   Strategies 360 Inc.  2011
  
  

  Jacques Sauvé (4)  Consulting Engineer At Large
    2012
 
  

  Susan St. Amand (4) President, Minister of Transport 
   Sirius Financial Services (Government of Canada)
    2012
  

  J. Peter Vice (2) (4) Partner,  At Large
  Past-Chair Vice Hunter Labrosse LLP 2003

(3) Member of Governance, Human Resources & Compensation Committee
(4) Member of Major Infrastructure and Environment Committee      
  

(1) Member of Audit Committee
(2) Member of Executive Committee
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Directors’ Compensation in 2012

Annual Retainer Chair $ 45,000
  Vice-Chair $ 15,000
  Committee Chairs $ 20,000
  All other Directors $ 12,000

Per meeting fee $550 per meeting, 
  $200 per teleconference 

Attendance at Board and Committee Meetings

Board Member Board Meetings Attended Committee Meetings Attended while
   Member of a Committee
Craig Bater (note 1) 7 out of 7 3 out of 3
Thom Bennett (note 1) 7 out of 7 3 out of 3
John Boyd 9 out of 10 5 out of 5
Raymond Brunet (note 2) 4 out of 5 8 out of 8
Chris Carruthers  9 out of 10 4 out of 5
Ron Clifton  7 out of 10 7 out of 8
Barbara Farber  8 out of 10 4 out of 4
Pat Kelly  9 out of 10 8 out of 8
Gilles Lalonde  9 out of 10 21 out of 21
Philippe Marion (note 1) 6 out of 7 4 out of 4
Brendan McGuinty  10 out of 10  14 out of 14
Eric McSweeney (note 2) 4 out of 4 1 out of 2
Jacques Sauvé (note 1) 7 out of 7 3 out of 3
Michael Skrobica 10 out of 10 21 out of 21
Susan St. Amand (note 3) 4 out of 4 1 out of 1
J. Peter Vice 10 out of 10 22 out of 22
James Wright (note 2) 4 out of 4 6 out of 6

Note 1- new board member effective April 25, 2012
Note 2- term ended on April 25, 2012
Note 3- new board member effective August 29, 2012

Committees of the Board

The following is a list of Committees of the Board and the 
mandate of each: 

Executive Committee
• annual review and assessment of the performance 
 of the President;
• review the Annual Report as prepared by the President;
• recommend Directors for the Governance, Human 
 Resources & Compensation Committee, 
• recommend chairs of committees; 
• review the Authority’s commitment to corporate social 
 responsibility; and
• oversee risk management.

Major Infrastructure and Environment 
Committee 
• oversee the development and progress of major 
 construction projects; and
• oversee the environmental program.

Audit Committee
• review matters relating to the appointment of external 
 auditors, including fees, and recommend to the 
 Members the appointment of the external auditors.
 The external auditors report to the Audit Committee.  
• annually review with the external auditors and 
 management matters relating to conduct of the annual 
 audit and any recommendations of the auditors  
 regarding internal controls;  

24



                                                                                                                             Ottawa Macdonald-Cartier International Airport Authority  

• annual review of proposed fiscal operating and capital  
 budgets for recommendation to and approval by the  
 Board;
• review the annual audited financial statements of the  
 Authority for recommendation to and approval by the  
 Board; 
• review and approve quarterly financial statements of the
 Authority; and 
• review matters having a material financial impact  
 on the Authority, including financing requirements and
 options, and recommendation to the Board. 

Governance, Human Resources & 
Compensation Committee
• establish the nomination procedures, the skill sets  
 required for nominees and the length of term of   
 selected nominees;
• evaluate nominees and report to the Board;
• review succession plans and provide advice on   
 development and career planning for potential   
 successors;
• recommend the remuneration plan to the Board;
• review the results of the tri-annual employee   
 satisfaction survey;
• annual review of Board governance and compensation;
• oversee the application of Conflict of Interest rules to  
 Board members and nominees;
• evaluate the performance of the Board and individual  
 Directors; 
• evaluate the communications flow between the Board  
 and management; 
• review the governance section of the Annual Report; 
• study and adopt evolving best practices in corporate  
 governance; and
• recommend to the Board the hiring of external advisors
 by individual Board Members and establish   
 circumstances when it is appropriate or inappropriate  
 to do so.

Other ad-hoc committees may be formed from time to 
time that include members of the Board of Directors. 
One ad hoc committee was formed during 2012 to 
undertake the recruitment, selection, and hiring of a new 
President and CEO.  

Accountability

The Authority’s policy is to be accountable to the 
community and transparent in relations with business 
and customers.  The Authority’s mandate, as set out in its 
Letters Patent, establishes a standard against which its 
performance can be measured.  

The mandate of the Authority is:
• to manage, operate and develop the Ottawa 
 International Airport, which is leased to the Authority 
 by Transport Canada, and any other airport in the 
 National Capital Region for which the Authority 
 becomes responsible, in a safe, secure, efficient, cost 
 effective and financially viable manner with reasonable 
 airport user charges and equitable access to all carriers;
• to undertake and promote the development of 
 airport lands, for which it is responsible, for uses that 
 are compatible with air transportation activities; and
• to expand transportation facilities and generate 
 economic activity in ways which are compatible with air 
 transportation activities.

The Authority accounts for its actions to the community in 
a number of ways: 
• by publishing an Annual Report;
• by hosting an Annual Public Meeting;
• by hosting an annual meeting with selecting bodies;
• by establishing and/or reporting to the following 
 consultation committees:
	 ˙	 Airport	Noise	Committee
	 ˙	 Airline	Consultative	Committee
	 ˙	 Airport	Operators	Committee
	 ˙	 Community	Consultative	Committee
	 ˙	 Airside	Safety	Committee;
• through meetings and/or consultations with local 
 city officials;
• through extensive public consultations on the periodic 
 renewal of the Airport Master Plan, which was updated 
 in 1998 and again in early 2008, and the Land Use 
 Plan, which was last updated in 2008, and approved by 
 the Minister of Transport in 2009; and  
• by maintaining a corporate website at 
 www.ottawa-airport.ca.

In addition, a performance review must be conducted at 
least once every five years, in keeping with the Authority’s 
Ground Lease with Transport Canada.  This performance 
review was last completed in early 2012.      

Transparency

Procurement and Contracting
The Authority is transparent in its procurement practices.  
The Public Accountability Principles for Canadian Airport 
Authorities and the Authority’s Ground Lease require that 
all contracts for the procurement of goods, services, and 
construction services with a value in excess of $107,000 
($75,000 in 1994 dollars adjusted for CPI), must be awarded 
through a competitive public tendering process, or be 
disclosed in the Authority’s Annual Report together with 
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the reasons why they were not awarded through a public 
competitive process.  

Contracts in excess of $107,000 that were not awarded 
on the basis of a public competitive process during 2012 
include:  

Contractor  Contract Description Reason for  
     Sole  Source
PCL Constructors $137,893  See A and B
Canada Inc.  Construction  below
   management
   – deicing pad discharge
   pipe modification
Complete Entry  $145,585  See A
Systems and  Repair fire doors  below
Services   
   $204,736
   Sliding door
   maintenance 
Vaisala  $129,150   See C below
   Supply and install new 
   lightning detection
   system
U-Pak Disposal  $225,000   See C below
(1989) Ltd.   Removal of 
   international waste

A – Prior experience, knowledge of the facility, capacity and 
resources, or experience of the contractor in a 
specialized area.

B – Urgency of the situation precluded the normal 
competitive process (emergency situations). 

C – There is only one qualified supplier available when all 
factors are taken into account.   

Executive Management Salary Ranges 
The base salary range for the President of the Authority in 
2012 was between $220,000 and $300,000.  The base salary 
range for each of the Vice Presidents in 2012 was between 
$120,000 and $200,000.

In addition, under the management incentive plan, the 
President and the Vice Presidents receive appropriate 
bonuses based on achieving targets/objectives that are 
approved by the Board at the beginning of each year.

Fees and Charges
The Authority provides 60 days advance notice in local news 
media for all changes in user charges (excluding rent), 
together with an explanation for the noted increase.  This 
includes parking rates, aeronautical fees charged to air 
carriers, and airport improvement fees (AIF).  

While the Authority’s goal is to keep the aeronautical fees it 
charges air carriers constant, it has been necessary to adjust 
these fees on a few occasions.  The Authority’s process for 
adjusting aeronautical fees and charges includes:
• prior to any change, consulting with air carriers 
 through the Airline Consultative Committee, with 
 necessary explanations and calculations showing how 
 these fees were determined, at least 90 days in advance 
 of the effective date of the change; and
• providing 60 days notice of the increase in fees to 
 the airlines.

The Authority publicizes the reason for imposing an AIF, 
or for making changes to the fee, as it last did when it 
announced it had increased its fee to $20 effective on 
February 1, 2011.  The purpose of the existing AIF is to pay 
for the construction of and the debt associated with the 
Airport Expansion Program.    

The process for adjusting AIFs is similar to the process for 
adjusting aeronautical fees and charges, including public 
notice in the local news media. 

Public Access to Documents

In accordance with Public Accountability Principles for 
Canadian Airport Authorities, the Ottawa Airport Authority 
makes available by appointment the following documents 
for examination, at no charge, during its usual business 
hours:
• the current Airport Master Plan;
• a summary of the Authority’s current Business and 
 Strategic Plans;
• the most recent and the previous annual financial 
 statements of the Authority, with the accompanying 
 auditors reports (included in each year’s 
 Annual Report);
• its five most recent Annual Reports, each of which 
 includes a general summary of the Authority’s affairs 
 during the previous fiscal year;
• summaries of the Authority’s five most recent 
 Business Plans;
• the Authority’s Articles of Incorporation (its letters 
 patent) and by-laws, including any amendments; 
• all signed airport transfer agreements; and
• a summary of the Authority’s Five-year Performance 
 Review document.  
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Board of Directors 
(Standing left to right) Brendan McGuinty, John Boyd, Patrick Kelly, Philippe Marion, J. Peter Vice, Ron Clifton, Thom Bennett,  
Jacques Sauvé, (seated left to right) Craig Bater, Susan St. Amand, Gilles Lalonde, Paul Benoit, Barbara Farber, Michael Skrobica

Contacting the Authority
There are a number of methods available to the public to 
contact and provide input to the Authority:  
• submit questions, comments or concerns through the 
 Authority’s website www.ottawa-airport.ca;
• complete a customer comment card which is available 
 at both of the airport’s information kiosks;
• call the general inquiries lines at 613-248-2125 
 or 613-248-2141;
• call the noise information line at 613-248-2023;
• call or write to individual Airport Authority   
 departments at the following address:
 Suite 2500, 1000 Airport Parkway Private, 
 Ottawa, ON  Canada K1V 9B4; 
• fax questions, comments or concerns to 613-248-2068
•    twitter.com/FlyYOW and @FlyYOW; and
•    facebook.com/FlyYOW

In addition, the Authority conducts quarterly customer 
satisfaction surveys in the passenger terminal building.

The Authority’s policy is to respond to all questions, 
comments and concerns as expeditiously as possible.  
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2012 Financial 
Review 
This Financial Review reports on the results and financial 
position of the Ottawa International Airport Authority 
(the Authority) for its year ended December 31, 2012. This 
review should be read in conjunction with the audited 
financial statements and related notes of the Authority. This 
review contains forward–looking statements, including 
statements regarding the business and anticipated financial 
performance of the Authority. These statements are subject 
to a number of risks and uncertainties that will cause actual 
results to differ from those contemplated in the  
forward–looking statements.

Overall Performance

Earnings before depreciation for the year ended  
December 31, 2012 were $27.6 million compared to  
$27.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2011.  

The Authority recorded depreciation of $22.3 million 
in 2012 compared to $22.2 million in 2011, reflecting 
depreciation of the terminal building and related facilities 
over their estimated economic lives. After subtracting 
depreciation, the Authority generated net earnings of  
$5.3 million in 2012 compared to $5.7 million in 2011.  

The Authority’s net operating results for the three years 
ended December 31, 2012 are summarized as follows:

(in millions) 2012  2011 2010
   
Revenues $ 105.8 $  103.1 $   89.7
Expenses before 
depreciation 78.2 75.2 72.2
Earnings before 
depreciation  27.6 27.9 17.5
Depreciation  22.3 22.2 21.5

Net earnings $     5.3  $      5.7 $   (4.0)
   
Total assets $ 417.3 $  414.0 $ 407.7
Total long-term debt $ 342.7 $  344.8 $ 347.1

Results of Operations  

Operating Activities
During 2012, the Ottawa Airport saw passenger volumes 
increase by 1.3% over 2011. A total of 4,685,956 enplaned 
and deplaned passengers moved through the airport in 2012 
as compared to 4,624,626 passengers in 2011.  

Some of this increase has come from an increase in the 
number of passengers connecting through Ottawa en route 
to other destinations. Increases to transborder destinations 
exceeded expectations, and domestic traffic also increased 
significantly to exceed pre-recession levels as follows:

 % change – 
 2012 versus
 2012 2011 2010 2011 2010
Domestic 3,454,387 3,429,310 3,303,170 0.7% 4.6%
Transborder 775,040 750,486 725,781 3.3% 6.8%
International 456,529 444,830 444,943 2.6% 2.6%

Total 4,685,956 4,624,626 4,473,894 1.3% 4.6%

Passenger volumes between Ottawa and domestic locations 
were only slightly higher in 2012 than in 2011. The growth 
that occurred in the first half of the year reversed in the 
second half reflecting the slowdown in economic growth 
that is being reported in Canada, but more specifically, 
local conditions in Ottawa where the threat of government 
job cuts and other cost cutting is impacting travel plans. 
Passenger volumes between Ottawa and domestic locations 
were 1.4% and 4.9% lower in the third and fourth quarters 
respectively than in the third and fourth quarters of 2011. 
In the first half of the year, Porter’s promotional pricing 
strategy stimulated demand, especially during off-peak 
times, with other airlines competing to match this pricing. 
Service to Toronto Billy Bishop Airport continued to be 
an exceptionally popular option for accessing Toronto, 
particularly for business travellers, but also for leisure 
travellers taking advantage of off-peak promotional pricing. 
This stimulated demand eased as economic fears took hold 
and travellers curtailed their travel plans in the second half 
of the year.

Transborder volumes were 3.3% higher than in 2011 and 
have been greater than expected despite the economic 
conditions being reported in the US. Canadian vacationers 
continued to take advantage of favourable Canadian-US 
exchange rates and more attractive vacation deals in the 
US, as they did in 2011. An increase in leisure travel to the 
US driven by the strong Canadian dollar is believed to have 
reduced the decrease in transborder traffic that would have 
otherwise occurred given weak US economic conditions.
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Despite increased passenger volumes to US destinations in 
lieu of international destinations, international volumes 
were higher than in 2011 by 2.6%, although this growth all 
came in the first quarter of the year. The first quarter was 
exceptionally strong with growth at 11.8%, but volumes 
decreased from 2011 in each of the last three quarters as 
demand for leisure travel eased and travellers curtailed 
their travel plans.
   
While WestJet and Air Canada saw total Ottawa passenger 
volumes virtually unchanged in 2012, total passengers 
carried by Air Canada to domestic destinations decreased 
slightly from 2011. Porter’s 2012 domestic volumes for 
Ottawa continued to increase, augmenting the strong 
double-digit growth that has occurred each year since 
Porter started operations in late 2006. Porter’s service 
to Toronto Billy Bishop Airport in downtown Toronto 
continues to be an exceptionally popular option for 
accessing Toronto, particularly for business travellers.
 
By sector, each quarter of 2012 passenger volumes 
compared to comparable quarters in 2011 were as follows:

 Domestic Transborder International
Q1 Higher by 7.4% Higher by 5.6% Higher by 11.8%
Q2 Higher by 3.0% Higher by 1.7% Lower by 6.4%
Q3 Lower by 1.4% Higher by 4.8% Lower by 3.7%
Q4 Lower by 4.9% Higher by 0.7% Lower by 2.8%

By quarter, total passenger volumes were as follows:

 2012 2011 % change
Q1 1,249,065 1,158,941 7.8% 
Q2 1,160,908 1,137,316 2.1%
Q3 1,156,801 1,164,707 (0.7%) 
Q4 1,119,182 1,163,662 (3.8%)
Total 4,685,956 4,624,626 1.3% 

The size (weight) of an aircraft and number of “landed” 
seats on an aircraft (regardless of whether those seats are 
occupied by passengers) are the most significant factors in 
the determination of aeronautical fees charged to airlines. 
In 2012, the number of landed seats decreased by 1.7% 
from 2011. Slight increases in landed seats to transborder 
and international destinations were offset by reduced 
capacity serving domestic destinations. In the second half 
of 2012, Porter reduced the excess capacity on its service 
to Toronto Billy Bishop Airport by reducing frequency, and 
Air Canada reduced its capacity on routes to Toronto by 
using smaller aircraft on existing routes. Porter’s domestic 
volumes for Ottawa had increased very strongly each 
year since their start-up in late 2006, but in 2012 Porter 
adjusted its frequency between Toronto and Ottawa slightly, 
in order to provide service to other destinations, while still 
maintaining convenient service for business travel. 

Revenues
Total revenues increased by 2.7% to $105.8 million in 2012 
compared to $103.1 million in 2011.  

Revenues by category    
($ in thousands) 2012 2011 Change % 
   
Airport 
improvement 
fees $  39,379 $  37,732 $  1,647 4%
Terminal fees 
and loading
bridge charges 23,978 23,706 272 1%
Landing fees 11,542 11,437 105 1%
Concessions 10,052 10,017 35 0%
Car parking 12,519 11,865 654 6%
Land and 
space rentals 5,732 5,623 109 2%
Other revenue 2,643 2,678 (35) (1%)
     
 $105,845 $103,058 $  2,787 3%

Airport improvement fees (AIF) at $39.4 million in 2012 
increased by 4.5%, from $37.7 million in 2011. This 
increase was commensurate with the increase in the rate 
from $15 to $20 per enplaned passenger effective 
February 1, 2011, the minor increase in passenger volumes 
in the year, and minor fluctuations in the percentage 
of departing passengers originating in Ottawa (versus 
connecting through Ottawa). Passengers connecting 
through Ottawa are exempt from the AIF charged by the 
Authority. An average of approximately 90% of departing 
passengers originated in Ottawa (versus connected through 
Ottawa) in 2012. Under an agreement with the airlines, 
AIFs are collected by the airlines in the price of a ticket and 
are paid to airport authorities on an estimated basis, net 
of airline collection fees of 6%, on the first of the month 
following the month of enplanement. Final settlement 
based on actual passenger volumes occurs at the end of the 
month following the month of enplanement.

At $35.5 million in 2012, total aeronautical revenues, 
which include terminal fees, loading bridge charges and 
landing fees charged to air carriers, were 1.1% higher than 
revenues of $35.1 million in 2011. The increase reflects a 
3.1% increase in landing fee and general terminal fee rates 
(February 1, 2012) that is offset by the impact of a decrease 
in seat volumes in the year and minor changes in the fleet 
mix of aircraft sizes serving Ottawa. As the growth in airline 
volumes has not kept pace with inflation over the years 
since transfer, the Authority increased its aeronautical fee 
rates by a further 3.0% effective February 1, 2013. Despite 
these increases, the Authority’s average aeronautical fee 
rates remain among the lowest in Canada.
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Concession revenues increased only very slightly from 
$10.0 million in 2011. Minor adjustments to minimum 
annual guarantees provided under these concession 
agreements were offset by lower revenues from concessions 
beating their guarantees and paying rent based on the 
percentage of their revenues.

Car parking revenues increased to $12.5 million from  
$11.9 million in 2011, an increase of 5.5% that is 
commensurate with passenger volumes, the changing 
mix of passengers, and the availability of parking options. 
In addition, the Authority increased the maximum daily 
rate for stays in the Parkade effective February 1, 2012, 
which had some impact on revenues for the year. Amounts 
paid for very short stays by meeters and greeters were not 
impacted by this rate change. Parking revenues are believed 
to be most impacted by the mix of passengers. Domestic 
passengers tend to park for shorter periods of time for 
business purpose day-trips. Leisure travellers, transborder 
passengers, and international passengers park at the airport 
for longer periods of time.

Revenues from land and space rentals increased primarily 
as a result of inflation based adjustments to land lease and 
space rental rates.

Expenses
Expenses before depreciation increased to $78.2 million in 
2012 from $75.2 million in 2011. Depreciation increased 
to $22.3 million in 2012 from $22.2 million in 2011. The 
increase in depreciation reflects depreciation on continuing 
investment in property, plant and equipment during 2012.

Expenses by category     
($ in thousands) 2012 2011 Change % 
     
Interest  $ 19,677 $ 18,789 $    888 5%
Ground rent 7,592 7,341 251  3%
Materials, supplies 
and services    27,376 26,327 1,049 4%
Salaries and benefits 18,605 17,922 683 4%
Payments in lieu of 
municipal taxes 4,982 4,788 194 4%
     
 $ 78,232 $ 75,167 $ 3,065 4%
     
 Interest expense reflected in the statement of operations 
results from borrowing to invest in the Authority’s capital 
programs. In 2011, $940,000 in interest was capitalized 
as part of the Parkade construction project resulting in 
lower interest expense recorded on the income statement 
in 2011. As required under IFRS, the Authority capitalizes 
interest costs during certain major construction projects 
until the project becomes operational. Assets qualifying 
for interest capitalization are those assets which take a 

substantial period of time to get ready for use. The Parkade 
construction project became operational in late 2011 and 
there were no qualifying major construction projects 
in progress during 2012. Accordingly, no interest was 
capitalized in 2012.

Ground rent payable to the Government of Canada 
increased by 3.4% to $7.6 million in 2012 due to higher 
revenues. The Authority operates the airport under the 
terms of a ground lease with the Government of Canada 
that sets out the formula for calculating annual ground 
rent. The amount reflected as ground rent expense is 
estimated based on that formula. The formula calculates 
rent as a royalty based on a percentage of gross annual 
revenues on a progressive scale. Ground rent is calculated 
as a percentage of gross annual revenues as defined in 
the lease, with no rent payable on the Authority’s first 
$5 million in annual revenue and an increasing rent 
percentage payable as revenue increases, on a cumulative 
basis. Rent is levied at a maximum 12% rate on annual 
revenues in excess of $250 million as follows:

Gross revenues  Rent payable Cumulative 
   maximum
   ground rent 
On the first $5 million 
of revenues  0% $0
On the next $5 million  1% $50 thousand
On the next $15 million   5% $800 thousand
On the next $75 million  8% $6,800 thousand 
On the next $150 million  10% $21,800 thousand
On revenues over 
$250 million  12% 

Based on the Authority’s projections, estimated ground rent 
payments under the ground lease for the next five years are 
as follows:

 2013 $8.0 million
 2014 $8.3 million
 2015 $8.6 million
 2016 $9.0 million
 2017 $9.3 million

The cost of materials, supplies and services increased from 
$26.3 million in 2011 to $27.4 million in 2012, an increase 
of 4.0%. The increase was primarily due to the additional 
costs of airfield materials and equipment rentals required 
as a result of freezing rain and snow events in January and 
December of 2012. These events occurred more frequently 
than in 2011. The cost of materials, supplies and services 
also increased due to contracted rate increases for third 
party services including policing, security, building 
cleaning, and other outsourced services, but also due to 
the increased costs of fuel and utilities. In addition, the 
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Authority increases annually the amount that it spends on 
repairs and maintenance as the facility ages.  

The cost of salaries and benefits increased 3.8% from 
$17.9 million in 2011 to $18.6 million in 2012. In the first 
quarter of 2011, the Authority reduced its accrual for the 
estimated impact of changes to the Authority’s collective 
agreement with its emergency response personnel. The 
final determination of the Authority’s collective agreement, 
which expired on June 30, 2007, was settled through 
binding arbitration in early April 2011. Adjusting 2011 for 
the impact of reducing this accrual, the cost of salaries 
and benefits in 2012 were 
unchanged from 2011. 
Increases from contracted 
rate increases and from the 
cost of additional personnel 
throughout the year were 
offset by the lower cost of 
employee benefits.

The term of the renewed 
collective agreement for 
the emergency response 
personnel extended to, and 
expired on, June 30, 2011, coincident with the end of the 
term for the collective agreement covering the Authority’s 
other unionized staff. The Authority has completed the 
collective bargaining process with its emergency response 
personnel and is proceeding towards binding arbitration. 
The collective agreement covering the Authority’s other 
unionized staff was settled in 2011.

Payments in lieu of municipal taxes have increased by 
4.1% to reflect provincial legislation which dictates 
the calculation of this payment. Under this legislation, 
payments in lieu of municipal taxes are based on a fixed 
legislated rate for the Authority, multiplied by the previous 
year’s passenger numbers, but to a maximum increase of 
5% over the previous year’s amount. The $5.0 million paid 
for 2012 reflects this prescribed calculation. Payments in 
lieu of taxes will increase in 2013 by 1.3% over the 2012 
amount based on this legislation and reflecting the increase 
in passenger volumes that occurred in 2012.

Summary of Quarterly Results

The Authority’s quarterly results are influenced by 
passenger activity, aircraft movements, maintenance 
project decisions, and other factors such as weather and 
economic conditions and do not necessarily fluctuate 
consistently over time based on the season. Due to these 
external factors, the historic results on a quarterly basis 
cannot be relied upon as a predictor of future trends.  

Selected unaudited quarterly financial information for the 
eight most recently completed quarters is set out below: 

Capital Expenditures

In accordance with the Authority’s mandate, all earnings 
are retained and reinvested in airport operations and 
development, including investment in property, plant, and 
equipment to meet ongoing operating requirements.

During 2012, the Authority made cash payments of 
$24.6 million related to its capital expenditure program, 
including holdbacks and other payments related to 
expanding the parking facility that was completed in 
late 2011. In the summer months of 2012, the Authority 
resurfaced and rewired its most frequently used runway, 
runway 07/25, at a cost of $14 million. In addition, 
during 2012, the Authority commenced a project to 
renovate and expand its baggage handling system to 
comply with new regulations for baggage screening. 
The total cost of this project and associated work, which 
will not be complete until early 2014, is expected to be 
approximately $30 million. 

Contractual Obligations

In addition to ground rent payments noted above, the 
Authority has operating commitments in the ordinary 
course of business requiring payments which diminish as 
contracts expire as follows:

(in millions)  2011 2012
Quarter ended Mar June Sept Dec Mar June Sept Dec
         
Revenue $  25.9 $  25.3 $  25.7 $  26.2 $  28.7 $  26.0 $  25.7 $  25.4
Expense  18.5 17.9 18.3 20.5 20.8 19.0 18.8 19.6
Earnings before 
depreciation  7.4 7.4 7.4 5.7 7.9 7.0 6.9 5.8
Depreciation 5.5 5.5 5.8 5.4 5.4 5.5 5.6 5.8

Net earnings  $    1.9 $    1.9 $    1.6 $    0.3  $    2.5 $     1.5 $    1.3 $    0.0
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As a non-share capital corporation, the Authority funds its 
operating requirements, including debt service, through 
operating revenues and AIF revenue.  The Authority 
manages its operations to ensure that AIF revenue is not 
used to fund regular ongoing expenses of operations or 
sustaining capital. AIF revenue is used to fund debt service 
costs and other expenses related to the Authority’s major 
infrastructure construction programs, including the 
Airport Expansion Program (AEP). The Authority funds 
major infrastructure expenditures by borrowing in the 
capital markets and by using bank credit.

The Authority maintains access to an aggregate of  
$118 million in committed 364-day revolving credit 
facilities with two Canadian banks. The current facilities 
have again been extended for another 364-day term 
expiring on October 18, 2013. Included in such facilities 
are a $20 million operating credit to fund day to day 
financial requirements and an additional $98 million in the 
aggregate to fund general corporate purposes, to provide 
liquidity support, and to fund major capital expenditures on 
a short term basis prior to securing longer term financing 
in the capital markets.

In 2002, during Phase I of the AEP, the Authority 
established a Capital Markets Platform under a Master Trust 
Indenture (MTI) setting out the terms of all debt, including 
bank facilities and revenue bonds. Under the MTI, the 
Authority is required to maintain with the Trustee a Debt 
Service Reserve Fund equal to six months’ debt service. 
At December 31, 2012, the balance in the Debt Service 
Reserve Fund was just over $10.7 million, which exceeds 
the amount required under the MTI. The MTI also requires 
that the Authority maintain an Operating and Maintenance 
Reserve Fund in an amount equal to 25% of defined 
operating and maintenance expenses for the previous year. 

This fund may be 
maintained in the 
form of cash and 
investments held 
by the Authority, 
or the undrawn 
availability of a 
committed credit 
facility. As at 
December 31, 2012, 
$10.6 million of 
the Authority’s 
credit facilities 
had been allocated 
exclusively to the 
Operating and 

Maintenance Reserve Fund. At December 31, 2012 the 
Authority was in full compliance with the provisions of its 
debt facilities, including the MTI’s provisions related to 
reserve funds, the flow of funds and the rate covenant.

The Authority has accessed its existing bank credit facilities 
to fund the construction costs related to expanding the 
Parkade, and expects to access these facilities on an 
ongoing basis to fund its capital programs. The Authority 
completed 2012 with bank indebtedness of $9.4 million 
as a result of investing in its capital programs. Based on 
its current plans, the Authority’s maximum borrowing 
requirements under these facilities is not expected to 
exceed $30 million during 2013. From time to time, 
surplus cash is invested in short-term investments 
permitted by the MTI, while maintaining liquidity for 
purposes of investing in the Authority’s capital programs.

As at December 31, 2012, the Authority’s accounts payable 
had decreased from 2011 by $1.9 million to $14.0 million. 
The decrease is primarily attributable to decreased accounts 
payable, holdbacks, and accruals related to construction of 
the addition to the Parkade.

During 2012, Moody’s Standard & Poors and DBRS 
reaffirmed the Authority’s credit ratings with stable 
outlooks in respect of the Authority’s revenue bonds under 
the MTI at Aa3, A+ and A(high) respectively. 

Risks and Uncertainties

Levels of Aviation Activity
The Authority will continue to face certain risks beyond its 
control which may or may not have a significant impact on 
its financial condition.  Airport revenue is largely a function 
of passenger volumes. Passenger volumes are driven by air 
travel demand. The events of the past several years have 
emphasized the volatile nature of air travel demand and 

 Payments for years ending December 31
        
($ in thousands) Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter
Long-term debt 
(note 1) $  342,696 $  2,409 $  2,747 $  3,111 $  3,212 $  3,695 $  327,462
Operating 
commitments 23,102 9,475 6,441 6,214 916 56 
Capital 
commitments 28,243 28,243     
Total 
contractual 
obligations $  394,041 $ 40,127 $  9,188 $  9,325 $  4,188 $  3,751 $  327,462
        
Note 1 – Further information on interest rates and maturity dates on long-term debt are provided 
in note 7 to the financial statements. 
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the impact of external factors such as economic conditions, 
health epidemics, geopolitical unrest (September 11, 2001), 
government regulation, the price of airfares, additional 
taxes on airline tickets and the financial uncertainty of 
the airline industry.

The financial uncertainty of the airline industry, although 
currently relatively stable in Canada, remains an ongoing 
risk to the Authority. This is mitigated by the fact that 
approximately 90% of the passenger activity at the airport 
originates or terminates at the Ottawa Airport, as opposed 
to connecting through Ottawa. Connecting passenger 
volumes are more vulnerable to fluctuation due to routing 
and scheduling changes by airlines. In addition, a greater 
percentage of the traffic through the airport is business 
travellers, whose travel decisions are less discretionary than 
those of leisure travellers.

Aviation Liability Insurance
The availability of adequate insurance coverage is 
subject to the conditions of the overall insurance 
market and the Authority’s claims and performance 
record. The Authority participates with an insurance 
buying group that also includes airport authorities from 
Vancouver, Edmonton, Calgary, Winnipeg, Montreal, 
and Halifax. This group has been successful in placing 
all of its insurance needs. In previous years, there have 
been significant changes in the insurance markets for 
aviation, largely driven by the events of September 11, 
2001. These events limited certain insurance products 
and resulted in higher pricing. The Government of 
Canada has extended an indemnification for third-party 
aviation war risk liability for all essential aviation service 
operators in Canada. The amount of this indemnification 
is in excess of US $50 million, the limit of insurance 
coverage which is currently available to airport operators 
on the market. The Government of Canada originally 
provided this indemnification in response to a decision 
by international insurers to withdraw third-party 
aviation war risk liability coverage that was available 
before September 11, 2001. The Government of Canada 
has given no indication that it will cease providing 
excess indemnity coverage.
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Financial Statements of  
The Ottawa 
Macdonald-Cartier 
International  
Airport Authority
December 31, 2012

Management’s Responsibility for 
Financial Statements

Management of Ottawa Macdonald-Cartier International 
Airport Authority is responsible for the integrity of 
the accompanying financial statements and all other 
information in this Annual Report. The financial statements 
have been prepared by management in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, which 
for publicly accountable enterprises, and in the case of 
the Authority, require International Financial Reporting 
Standards. Their preparation necessarily involves the use 
of management’s best estimates and careful judgement, 
particularly in those circumstances where transactions 
affecting a current period are dependent upon future 
events. All financial information in the Annual Report is 
consistent with the information and data contained in the 
financial statements. 

To discharge its responsibilities for financial reporting 
and safeguarding of assets, management believes that 
it has established appropriate systems of internal 
accounting control which provide reasonable assurance 
that the financial records are reliable and form a proper 
basis for the timely and reliable preparation of financial 
statements.

The Board of Directors discharges its responsibilities 
for the financial statements primarily through its Audit 
Committee, which is composed solely of directors who 
are neither officers nor employees of the Authority. This 
committee meets periodically with management and 
the independent auditors to review performance and 
to discuss audit, internal control, accounting policy, 
and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee 
reports its findings to the Board of Directors which 
reviews and approves annual financial statements. 
These financial statements were reviewed by the Audit 
Committee and approved by the Board of Directors.

The financial statements have been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, who were appointed at the 
annual general meeting. Their report is presented below. 

Paul Benoit  John G. Weerdenburg, CPA, CA 
President and  Vice-President and  
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Ottawa Ontario Canada March 4, 2013
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Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Directors of the
Ottawa Macdonald-Cartier International Airport Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements 
of the Ottawa Macdonald-Cartier International Airport 
Authority, which comprise the balance sheet as at 
December 31, 2012 and the statements of operations 
and comprehensive income, of changes in equity, and of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes, 
comprise a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and 
for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our 
audit is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of the Ottawa 
Macdonald-Cartier International Airport Authority as at 
December 31, 2012 and its financial performance and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Other matter

The financial statements of the Ottawa Macdonald-
Cartier International Airport Authority for the year ended 
December 31, 2011 were audited by other auditors who 
expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements dated 
February 22, 2012.

Chartered Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
Ottawa Ontario
March 4, 2013
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Balance Sheet
as at December 31       
 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)       
    

ASSETS  Note December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011

CURRENT ASSETS        
 Trade and other receivables  $ 7,813 $  7,283 
 Consumable supplies   1,733   1,560 
 Prepaid expenses and advances   881   870 
     10,427   9,713 

DEBT SERVICE RESERVE FUND  7(a)   10,747    10,629 
        
PROPERTY, PLANT and EQUIPMENT  3  390,956   388,860 
        
OTHER ASSETS 4  5,219    4,825 
       
     $ 417,349  $ 414,027 
LIABILITIES         
    
CURRENT LIABILITIES        
 Bank indebtedness 5 $ 9,385 $ 6,675 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities   14,026   15,930 
 Current portion of long-term debt  7  2,409    2,097 
      25,820   24,702 
       
POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT LIABILITY 9  18,754   18,292 

LONG-TERM DEBT  7  337,465   339,634 

     382,039   382,628 
        
Commitments and Contingencies  11    

EQUITY
       
 Retained Earnings 8  47,058   41,752 
 Accumulated other comprehensive income   (11,748)  (10,353) 
        
    $ 417,349  $ 414,027 

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

    
              , Director                                                        , Director    

(See accompanying notes to the financial statements)        
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Statements of Operations  
and Comprehensive Income         

years ended December 31        
  (in thousands of Canadian dollars)        

        
  Note 2012 2011
        
REVENUES        
        
 Airport improvement fees      8 $ 39,379  $ 37,732 
 Terminal fees and loading bridge charges   23,978   23,706 
 Landing fees   11,542   11,437 
 Concessions   10,052   10,017 
 Car parking   12,519   11,865 
 Land and space rentals   5,732  5,623 
 Other revenue   2,643  2,678 
        
     105,845   103,058 
        
EXPENSES        
        
 Interest       7(c)  19,677   18,789 
 Ground rent     11  7,592   7,341 
 Materials, supplies and services    27,376   26,327 
 Salaries and benefits   18,605   17,922 
 Payments in lieu of municipal taxes    4,982   4,788 
        
     78,232   75,167 
        
EARNINGS BEFORE DEPRECIATION   27,613   27,891 
        
DEPRECIATION    22,307   22,208 
        
NET EARNINGS    5,306   5,683 
        
Other comprehensive income         
 Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (loss)   (1,395)  (7,942) 
        
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME   $ 3,911  $ (2,259) 
        
        
(See accompanying notes to the financial statements)        
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Statements of Changes in Equity        

years ended December 31        
  (in thousands of Canadian dollars)        
        
    2012 2011
        
Retained earnings, beginning of year  $ 41,752  $ 36,069   
     
 Net earnings for the year   5,306   5,683   
     
Retained earnings, end of year   47,058   41,752   
     
        
Accumulated other comprehensive income         
        
 Remeasurements of defined benefit plans       
  Balance, beginning of year   (10,353)  (2,411) 
        
  Other comprehensive income for the year   (1,395)  (7,942) 
        
 Balance, end of year   (11,748)  (10,353) 
        
        
TOTAL EQUITY   $ 35,310  $ 31,399 
        
        
(See accompanying notes to the financial statements)        
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Statements of Cash Flows      
years ended December 31      
  (in thousands of Canadian dollars)      
      
   Note 2012 2011
      
Cash provided by (used in) -      
      
Operations:      
      
Net earnings  $ 5,306  $ 5,683 
      
Non-cash items:      
 Depreciation    22,307   22,208 
 Amortization of deferred financing costs   240   229 
 Increase in other assets   (394)  (395) 
 Decrease in post employment benefit liability   (933)  (836) 
 Interest expense   19,677  18,789 
      
Interest paid   (19,548)  (19,630) 
      
Changes in non-cash working capital related to operations    12   (2,501)   21 
      
Other     -    259 
      
 Total operations    24,154    26,328 
      
Financing activities:      
      
Increase in debt service reserve fund       7(a)  (118)  (119) 
Repayment of long-term debt   (2,097)  (2,339) 
      
 Total financing activities   (2,215)  (2,458) 
      
Investing activities:      
      
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (24,403)  (27,079) 
Increase in other assets   -   (1,500) 
Change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities      
 related to investing activities   (246)  (2,446) 
      
 Total investing activities   (24,649)  (31,025) 
      
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents    (2,710)  (7,155) 
      
Cash and cash equivalents (bank indebtedness), 
 beginning of year   (6,675)  480 
      
Bank indebtedness, end of year  $ (9,385) $ (6,675) 
      
      
(See accompanying notes to the financial statements)       
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Notes to the  
Financial  
Statements
for the year ended December 31, 2012

1. Description of Business

Ottawa Macdonald-Cartier International Airport 
Authority (the “Authority” or “Ottawa International 
Airport Authority”) was incorporated January 1, 1995 as 
a corporation without share capital under Part II of the 
Canada Corporations Act. All earnings of the Authority 
are retained and reinvested in airport operations and 
development.

The objects of the Authority are:

 a) to manage, operate and develop the Ottawa  
  International Airport, the premises of which are 
  leased to the Authority by the Government of 
  Canada (Transport Canada - see Note 11), and any 
  other airport in the National Capital Region for 
  which the Authority becomes responsible, in a safe, 
  secure, efficient, cost effective and financially viable 
  manner with reasonable airport user charges and 
  equitable access to all carriers;

 b) to undertake and promote the development of 
  the Airport lands, for which it is responsible, for 
  uses compatible with air transportation activities;  
  and

 c) to expand transportation facilities and generate 
  economic activity in ways which are compatible 
  with air transportation activities.

On January 31, 1997, the Authority signed a 60-year 
ground lease with the Government of Canada and assumed 
responsibility for the management, operation and 
development of the Ottawa International Airport. 

The Authority is exempt from federal and provincial income 
tax, and Ontario capital tax. The Authority is domiciled in 
Canada. The address of the Authority’s registered office and 
its principal place of business is suite 2500 - 1000 Airport 
Parkway Private, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada, K1V 9B4. 

 

2. Basis of Preparation and   
 Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the 
Board of Directors on March 4, 2013. 

The financial statements and amounts included in the 
notes to the financial statements are presented in Canadian 
dollars, which is the Authority’s functional currency.
  
The accounting policies set out below have been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in these financial 
statements.

The Authority prepares its financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). These financial statements have been 
prepared on a historical cost basis, except, as required, for 
the revaluation of certain financial assets and financial 
liabilities to fair value. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash and short-term 
investments with original terms to maturity of 90 days or less. 
Such short-term investments are recorded at fair value.

Consumable Supplies
Inventories of consumable supplies are valued at the lower 
of cost, determined on a first-in, first-out basis, and net
realizable value, based on estimated replacement cost.  

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost, net 
of government assistance, if any, and include only the 
amounts expended by the Authority. These assets will 
revert to the Government of Canada upon the expiration 
or termination of the Ground Lease. Property, plant and 
equipment do not include the cost of facilities which 
are leased from the Government of Canada. Incremental 
borrowing costs incurred during the construction of 
property, plant and equipment are included in the cost. 

Amounts initially recognized in respect of an item 
of property, plant and equipment are allocated to its 
significant parts and depreciated separately when the cost of 
the component is significant in relation to the total cost of 
the item and when its useful life is different from the useful 
life of the item. Residual values, the method of depreciation, 
and estimated useful lives of assets are reviewed annually 
and adjusted if appropriate. 
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Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the 
useful lives of individual assets and their component parts 
as follows:

 Buildings, building components, 
   and support facilities 3 – 40 years
 Runways, roadways and other 
  paved surfaces 10 – 50 years
 Land improvements 10 – 25 years
 Furniture and equipment 3 – 25 years
 Computer equipment and systems 2 – 25 years
 Vehicles 3 – 20 years
     
Construction in progress is recorded at cost and is 
transferred to buildings and support facilities and other 
asset categories as appropriate when the project is complete 
and the asset is available for use, or is written off when, due 
to changed circumstances, management does not expect 
the project to be completed. Assets under construction are 
not subject to depreciation until they are available for use. 

The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is derecognized on disposal or when no future 
economic benefits are expected from its use. The gain or 
loss arising from the derecognition (determined as the 
difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the item) is included as an adjustment of 
depreciation expense when the item is derecognized. 

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are capitalized during the construction 
phase of qualifying assets, which are assets that take a 
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended 
use. The capitalization rate is the weighted average cost of 
capital of outstanding loans during the period, other than 
the borrowings made especially for the purpose of obtaining 
the asset. All other borrowing costs are recognized 
in interest expense on a net basis in the statement of 
operations and comprehensive income in the period in 
which they are incurred. 

Impairment of Non-financial Assets
Property, plant and equipment and other assets are tested 
for impairment at the cash-generating unit level when 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their 
carrying amount may not be recoverable, and in the case 
of indefinite life assets, at least annually. A cash-generating 
unit is the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
flows from continuing use that are largely independent 
of the cash flows of other assets or groups of assets. An 
impairment loss is recognized when the carrying value 
of the assets in the cash-generating unit exceeds the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value of the 

cash-generating unit, less costs to sell, and value in use 
(represented by the total undiscounted cash flows expected 
from its use and eventual disposition). The amount of the 
impairment loss is determined as the excess of the carrying 
value of the assets over their recoverable amount. Reversals 
of impairments are recognized when there has been a 
subsequent increase in the recoverable amount. In this 
event, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its 
revised recoverable amount with an impairment reversal 
recognized in net earnings. The recoverable amount is 
limited to the original carrying amount less depreciation 
and amortization as if no impairment had been recognized 
for the asset.

Because of the Authority’s business model that provides 
services to the traveling public, none of the assets of the 
Authority are considered to generate cash flows that are 
largely independent of the other assets and liabilities. 
Instead, all of the assets are considered part of the same cash-
generating unit. In addition, the Authority’s unregulated 
ability to raise its rates and charges as required to meet its 
obligations, mitigates its risk of impairment losses. 

Deferred Financing Costs
Transaction costs relating to the issuance of long-term debt, 
including underwriting fees, professional fees, termination 
of interest-rate swap agreements, and bond discounts, 
are deferred and amortized using the effective-interest 
rate method over the term of the related debt. Under the 
effective interest rate method, amortization is recognized 
over the life of the debt at a constant rate applied to the net 
carrying amount of the debt. Amortization is included in 
interest expense. Deferred financing costs are reflected as a 
reduction in the carrying amount of related long-term debt. 

Leases
Leases or other arrangements entered into for the use of an 
asset are classified as either finance or operating leases. 

The Authority as lessee - Except for the ground lease, the 
Authority typically only enters into operating leases for 
minor items such as photocopy machines and printers. 
As these leases are classified as operating leases, the 
payments are amortized on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

Rent under the ground lease with the Government of 
Canada is calculated based on airport revenues for the 
year as defined in the lease. Accordingly, it is considered 
contingent rent and ground rent expense is accounted for 
as an operating lease in the statement of operations and 
comprehensive income. 
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The Authority as lessor – The Authority subleases land 
and space to other entities under operating leases.  Lease 
income from these operating leases is recognized in income 
on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. 

Revenue Recognition
Landing fees, terminal fees, and parking revenues are 
recognized as the airport facilities are utilized. The 
Authority has a landing fee rebate incentive program 
which provides airlines with incentives, such as free 
landing fees, to operate flights to new destinations for a 
minimum duration of one year. These rebate obligations are 
recognized as a reduction of revenues until the expiry of the 
obligation. 

Concession revenues are recognized on the accrual basis 
and calculated using agreed percentages of reported 
concessionaire sales, with specified minimum rent 
guarantees. 

Rental revenues are recognized over the lives of respective 
leases, licences, and permits. Tenant inducements 
associated with leased premises, including the value of  
rent-free periods, are deferred and amortized on a  
straight-line basis over the term of the related lease and 
recognized as a reduction of rental revenues. 

Airport improvement fees (AIF), net of airline 
administrative fees, are recognized upon the enplanement 
of passengers using information from air carriers obtained 
after enplanement has occurred, together with historical 
experience in percentages of connecting and exempt 
passengers.  Under an agreement with the airlines, airport 
improvement fees are collected by the airlines in the 
price of a ticket and are paid to airport authorities on an 
estimated basis, net of airline collection fees, on the first 
of the month following the month of enplanement. Final 
settlement based on actual passenger volumes occurs at the 
end of the month following the month of enplanement.

Pension Plan and Post-employment Benefits 
The Authority accrues its obligations under pension and 
post-retirement benefit plans as employees render the 
services necessary to earn these benefits. The costs of 
these plans are actuarially determined using the projected 
unit credit method based on length of service. This 
determination reflects management’s best estimates at the 
beginning of each fiscal year of the rate of salary increases, 
and various other factors including mortality, termination, 
retirement rates and expected future health care costs. 
For the purpose of calculating the net interest cost on the 
pension obligations net of pension plan assets those assets 
are valued at fair value. 

The post-employment benefit liability recognized on 
the balance sheet is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the fair 
value of plan assets. The accrued benefit obligation is 
discounted using the market interest rate on high-quality 
corporate debt instruments as at the measurement date, 
approximating the terms of the related pension liability.

During 2011, the International Accounting Standards Board 
issued new requirements under IAS 19, employee benefits, 
under which pension expense for the defined benefit 
pension plan includes current service cost  and the net 
interest cost on the pension obligations net of pension plan 
assets calculated using the market interest rate on high-
quality corporate debt instruments as determined for the 
previous balance sheet date. The Authority early adopted 
this new standard as of January 1, 2010 on a retrospective 
basis. Past service costs are recognized immediately in the 
statement of operations. Pension expense is included in 
salaries and benefits on the statement of operations and 
comprehensive income.  

Actuarial gains and losses (experience gains and losses 
that arise because actual experience for each year will 
differ from the beginning of year assumptions used for 
purposes of determining the cost and liabilities of these 
plans) are recognized in full as remeasurements of defined 
benefit plans in the period in which they occur, in other 
comprehensive income without recycling to the statement of 
operations and comprehensive income in subsequent periods. 

Pension expense for the defined contribution pension plan 
is recorded as the benefits are earned by the employees 
covered by the plan.

Employee Benefits Other Than 
Post-employment Benefits 
The Authority recognizes the expense related to salaries, 
bonuses, and compensated absences such as sick leave and 
vacations as short-term benefits in the period the employee 
renders the service. Costs related to employee health, 
dental, and life insurance plans are recognized in the period 
that expenses are incurred. The liabilities related to these 
benefits are not discounted due to their short-term nature. 

Onerous Contracts
Present obligations arising under onerous contracts 
are recognized and measured as provisions. An onerous 
contract is considered to exist when the unavoidable costs 
of meeting the obligation under the contract exceed the 
economic benefits expected to be received under it. 

The Authority currently has no contracts outstanding that 
have been designated as onerous contracts.  
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Estimation Uncertainty and Key Judgments
The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, commitments 
and contingencies at the date of the financial statements, 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. Accounting estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. These accounting 
estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing 
basis. Actual results could significantly differ from those 
estimates. Adjustments, if any, will be reflected in the 
statement of operations in the period of settlement or in the 
period of revision and future periods if the revision affects 
both current and future periods.  

Key judgment areas, estimations and assumptions include 
the useful lives of property, plant and equipment, valuation 
adjustments including allowances for uncollectible 
accounts, the cost of employee future benefits, and 
provisions for contingencies. 

Collectability of trade receivables – The Authority 
establishes a general allowance for uncollectible accounts 
that involves management review of individual receivable 
balances based on individual customer credit worthiness, 
current economic trends and the condition of the industry 
as a whole, and analysis of historical bad debts. 

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment – Critical 
judgments are used to determine depreciation rates, 
and useful lives and residual values of assets that impact 
depreciation amounts. 

The cost of employee future benefits – The Authority 
accounts for pension and other post-employment benefits 
based on actuarial valuation information provided by 
the Authority’s independent actuaries. These valuations 
rely on statistical and other factors in order to anticipate 
future events. These factors include discount rates, and key 
actuarial assumptions such as expected salary increases, 
expected retirement ages, and mortality rates.  

Financial Instruments 
All financial instruments measured at fair value are 
classified according to the following hierarchy:
Level 1 – valuation based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 – valuation techniques with significant observable 
market parameters; and
Level 3 – valuation techniques with significant 
unobservable market parameters. 

The Authority’s financial assets include cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable, advances (included with 
prepaid expenses), and the debt service reserve fund. Cash 
and cash equivalents, and the debt service reserve fund are 
classified as fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) and 
are recorded at fair value with realized and unrealized gains 
and losses reported in earnings for the period in which they 
arise. Fair values reflect quoted prices in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities (level 1). Due to the short period 
of collection, trade and other receivables and advances are 
classified as loans and receivables and are accounted for at 
amortized cost which approximates fair value.  

The Authority’s financial liabilities include bank 
indebtedness, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and 
long-term debt. Bank indebtedness is classified as a FVTPL 
liability. All remaining financial liabilities are classified as 
other liabilities and are accounted for at amortized cost 
with gains and losses reported in earnings for the period in 
which they arise. 

Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income is defined to include net income 
plus or minus other comprehensive income. Other 
comprehensive income includes actuarial gains and losses 
related to the Authority’s pension plan and post retirement 
benefits. In addition, other comprehensive income includes 
changes arising from gains and losses in the fair values 
of certain financial instruments and hedges, which in the 
Authority’s circumstances, are nil. Other comprehensive 
income is accumulated in a separate component of equity 
called accumulated other comprehensive income.
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3. Property, Plant and Equipment  
 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)     

   January 1,  Additions Disposals/ December 31,
   2012  Transfers  2012
Cost:    
    
Buildings and support facilities    
 Buildings and building components $ 368,784 $ 3,372  $   1,070 $ 371,086
 De-icing facility  7,600  743    8,343
 Pedestrian bridges  14,746      14,746
 Utilities infrastructure  14,012  4,557    18,569
    405,142  8,672  1,070  412,744
    
Runways, roadways and other paved surfaces  62,000  10,130    72,130
Land improvements  9,246  183  115  9,314
Furniture and equipment  16,280  452  108  16,624
Computer equipment and systems  21,961  1,245  108  23,098
Vehicles   20,959  365  22  21,302
Construction in progress  199  3,356    3,555
    
    535,787  24,403  1,423  558,767
Less accumulated depreciation:    
    
Buildings and support facilities    
 Buildings and building components  80,921  12,335  1,070  92,186
 De-icing facility  3,643  434    4,077
 Pedestrian bridges  6,390  1,111    7,501
 Utilities infrastructure  3,487  650    4,137
    94,441  14,530  1,070  107,901
    
Runways, roadways and other paved surfaces  14,232  2,534    16,766
Land improvements  4,888  402  115  5,175
Furniture and equipment  10,015  1,705  108  11,612
Computer equipment and systems  17,370  1,803  108  19,065
Vehicles   5,981  1,333  22  7,292
    
    146,927  22,307  1,423  167,811
    
   $ 388,860 $  2,096  $  -  $  390,956 
    
     

In 2011, borrowing costs of $940,000 were capitalized with a capitalization rate of 5.8%, and included in construction in 
progress. No borrowing costs were capitalized in 2012. 
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(in thousands of Canadian dollars)     

   January 1,  Additions Disposals/ December 31,
   2011  Transfers  2011
Cost:    
    
Buildings and support facilities    
 Buildings and building components $  335,670 $  33,447 $ 333 $ 368,784
 De-icing facility  7,600      7,600
 Pedestrian bridges  14,802  481  537  14,746
 Utilities infrastructure  13,223  789    14,012
    371,295  34,717  870  405,142
    
Runways, roadways and other paved surfaces  57,900  4,100    62,000
Land improvements  8,241  1,005    9,246
Furniture and equipment  15,925  1,720  1,365  16,280
Computer equipment and systems  21,137  1,373  549  21,961
Vehicles   20,447  2,078  1,566  20,959
Construction in progress  18,236    18,037  199
    
    513,181  44,993  22,387  535,787
Less accumulated depreciation:    
    
Buildings and support facilities    
 Buildings and building components  69,684  11,570  333  80,921
 De-icing facility  3,237  406    3,643
 Pedestrian bridges  5,846  1,081  537  6,390
 Utilities infrastructure  2,889  598    3,487
    81,656  13,655  870  94,441
    
Runways, roadways and other paved surfaces  11,847  2,385    14,232
Land improvements  4,520  368    4,888
Furniture and equipment  9,770  1,390  1,145  10,015
Computer equipment and systems  15,268  2,870  768  17,370
Vehicles   5,872  1,540  1,431  5,981
    
    128,933  22,208  4,214  146,927
    
   $ 384,248  $ 22,785  $ 18,173 $ 388,860
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In an agreement signed on May 27, 1999, the Authority 
agreed to assist the Regional Municipality of Ottawa-
Carleton (now the City of Ottawa) in acquiring lands 
municipally known as 4160 Riverside Drive by contributing 
to the City of Ottawa 50% of the funds required for the 
acquisition. In return, the City agreed to place restrictions 
on the use of the lands to ensure the lands are used for 
purposes that are compatible with the operations of the 
Authority. In addition, the Authority will receive 50% of the 
net proceeds from any future sale, transfer, lease, or other 
conveyance of the lands. 

During 2011, the Authority entered into a long-term lease 
with a subtenant that included a 3-year rent-free period and 
provided, as a tenant inducement, a payment in the amount 
of $1.5 million towards the cost of utilities infrastructure 
and other site improvements. Tenant inducements 
associated with leased premises, including the value of rent 
free periods, are deferred and amortized on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the related lease and recognized as 

a reduction of rental revenues. The value of these tenant 
inducements is being recognized as a reduction in rent 
during the first 20 years of the 47 year term of the lease. 

5. Credit Facilities

The Authority maintains credit facility agreements with two 
Canadian banks. Under these credit facilities the Authority 
is provided with a 364-day revolving operating facility in 
an amount of up to $20 million plus 364-day revolving 
credit facilities up to $98 million in the aggregate for 
general corporate purposes and for the financing of capital 
expenditure requirements associated with the Authority’s 
infrastructure construction programs. These facilities are 
secured under the Master Trust Indenture (see Note 7) and 
are due on October 18, 2013, but are renewed annually. 
They are available by way of overdraft, Prime Rate Loans, or 
Bankers’ Acceptances. Indebtedness under these facilities 

 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
Net carrying amount    
    
Buildings and support facilities    
       Buildings and building components $ 278,900  $ 287,863
       De-icing facility  4,266  3,957
       Pedestrian bridges  7,245  8,356
       Utilities infrastructure  14,432  10,525
  304,843  310,701
    
Runways, roadways and other paved surfaces  55,364  47,768
Land improvements  4,139  4,358
Furniture and equipment  5,012  6,265
Computer equipment and systems  4,033  4,591
Vehicles  14,010  14,978
Construction in progress  3,555  199
    
 $ 390,956 $ 388,860

4. Other Assets 
  (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
    
Interest in future proceeds from 
   4160 Riverside Drive, at cost $ 2,930 $ 2,930
   Tenant improvements and leasehold inducements, 
   net of amortization  2,289  1,895
  
   $ 5,219  $ 4,825
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bears interest at rates that vary with the lender’s prime rate 
and Bankers’ Acceptance rates, as appropriate. 

The bank indebtedness under these facilities as at  
December 31, 2012 bears interest at an average rate of 1.25%. 

As at December 31, 2012, $11.2 million of these revolving 
facilities had been designated to the Operating and 
Maintenance Reserve Fund (see Note 7).  

6. Capital Management

The Authority is incorporated without share capital 
under Part II of the Canada Corporations Act and, as 
such, all earnings are retained and reinvested in airport 
operations and development. Accordingly, the Authority’s 
only sources of capital for investing in airport operations 
and development are bank debt, long-term debt and 
accumulated earnings included on the Authority’s balance 
sheet as Retained Earnings.

The Authority incurs debt, including bank debt and long-
term debt, to fund development. It does so on the basis of 
the amount that it considers that it can afford and manage 
based on revenues from airport improvement fees (AIF) and 
to  maintain a minimum AIF: debt service coverage ratio. 
This provides for a self-imposed limit on what the Authority 
can spend on major development of the airport, such as the 
Authority’s major infrastructure construction programs. 

The Authority manages its rates and charges for 
aeronautical and other fees to safeguard the Authority’s 
ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain a 
conservative capital structure. It makes adjustments to 
these rates in light of changes in economic conditions and 
events, and to maintain sufficient net earnings to meet 
ongoing debt coverage requirements. 

The Authority is not subject to capital requirements 
imposed by a regulator, but manages its capital to comply 
with the covenants of its Master Trust Indenture (see Note 
7(a)) and to maintain its credit ratings in order to secure 
access to financing at a reasonable cost.  

7. Long-Term Debt
        (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

 December 31, 2012 December 31, 2011
    
6.973% amortizing Revenue bonds, Series B, due May 25, 2032, 
interest payable on May 25 and November 25 of each year until 
maturity commencing November 25, 2002, scheduled accelerating 
semi-annual instalments of principal payable on each interest 
payment date commencing November 25, 2004 $ 141,999  $ 143,864
    
4.733% Revenue bonds, Series D, due May 2, 2017, interest payable 
on May 2 and November 2 of each year until maturity commencing 
November 2, 2007  200,000  200,000
    
Deferred rent repayable to the Government of Canada, without  
interest in equal monthly instalments of $19 thousand over a  
ten year period commencing in 2006   697  929
    
  342,696  344,793
    
Less: deferred financing costs  2,822  3,062
    
  339,874  341,731
    
Less: current portion  2,409  2,097
    
 $  337,465  $  339,634 
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(a) Bond Issues

In May 2002, the Authority completed its original  
$270 million Revenue bond issue with two series, the 
$120 million Revenue bonds, Series A at 5.64% due on 
May 25, 2007 and the $150 million Revenue bonds, Series 
B at 6.973% due on May 25, 2032. In May 2007, the 
Authority completed a $200 million Revenue bond issue, 
in part to refinance the Series A, Revenue bonds repaid on 
May 25, 2007. The $200 million Revenue bonds, Series D 
at 4.733% are due on May 2, 2017 and are expected to be 
refinanced in 2017. 

The net proceeds from these offerings were used to 
finance the Authority’s infrastructure construction 
programs, and for general corporate purposes. These 
purposes included refinancing existing bank indebtedness 
incurred by the Authority in connection with these 
construction programs and funding of the Debt Service 
Reserve Fund.

Under the Master Trust Indenture entered into by 
the Authority in connection with the original debt 
offering in May 2002, all of these bond issues are direct 
obligations of the Authority ranking pari passu with all 
other indebtedness issued. All indebtedness, including 
indebtedness under bank credit facilities, are secured 
under the Master Trust Indenture by an assignment 
of revenues and related book debts, a security interest 
on money in reserve funds and certain accounts of the 
Authority, a security interest in leases, concessions 
and other revenue contracts of the Authority, and an 
unregistered mortgage of the Authority’s leasehold 
interest in airport lands.  

The Authority is unregulated in its ability to raise its rates 
and charges as required to meet its obligations. Under the 
Master Trust Indenture, the Authority is required to take 
action, such as increasing its rates, should its projected 
debt service coverage ratio fall below 1.0. If this debt 
service covenant is not met in any year, the Authority is 
not in default of its obligations under the Master Trust 
Indenture as long as the test is met in the subsequent 
year.  

Pursuant to the terms of the Master Trust Indenture, 
the Authority is required to establish and maintain with 
a trustee a Debt Service Reserve Fund with a balance 
at least equal to 50% of annual debt service costs. At 
December 31, 2012, the Debt Service Reserve Fund 
included $10.7 million in interest-bearing deposits held 
in trust. These trust funds are held for the benefit of the 
bondholders for use and application in accordance with 
the terms of the Master Trust Indenture. In addition, 
the Authority is required to maintain an Operating and 

Maintenance Reserve Fund equal to 25% of defined 
operating and maintenance expenses in the previous 
year (approximately $11.2 million in 2012 based on 2011 
expenses). The Operating and Maintenance Reserve Fund 
has been satisfied by the undrawn availability under a 
committed credit facility described above. 
 
At December 31, 2012 the Authority was in full 
compliance with the provisions of its debt facilities, 
including the Master Trust Indenture’s provisions related 
to reserve funds, the flow of funds and the rate covenant.

(b) On July 16, 2003, the Minister of Transport announced 
short-term rent relief for airports. Under this program, 
the Authority was able to defer approximately 10% of its 
rent for the 2 year-period that started July 1, 2003 (a total 
of $2.3 million). The deferral is to be repaid, interest-free, 
over a period of 10 years that started on January 1, 2006. 
Because this is a deferral and not a permanent reduction 
of rent, the full amounts of rent were recorded as a 
liability in the accounts.

(c) Interest expense

 2012 2011

Bond interes $ 19,475 $ 19,571 
Interest expense – Other  320  276
  19,795  19,847
Less:    
       Interest earned   118  118
       Capitalized interest  -  940
Total interest expense $ 19,677  $ 18,789 

(d) The future annual principal payments for all long-term 
debt are as follows:
  
Within one year 
       2013 $   2,409
One to five years 
       2014 2,747
       2015 3,111
       2016 3,272
       2017 3,695
After five years 327,462

(e) Deferred financing costs 
 December 31, December 31,
 2012 2011
   
Deferred financing costs $ 4,398  $ 4,398 
Less: Accumulated 
amortization  (1,576)  (1,336)
 $ 2,822  $  3,062
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8. Airport Improvement Fees (AIF)
       (in thousands of Canadian dollars) 

On September 1, 1999, the Authority implemented an 
AIF of $10.00 per local boarded passenger to fund the 
cost of major capital expenditures under the Authority’s 
infrastructure construction programs (including the 
Airport Expansion Program). This fee was subsequently 
increased to $15.00 effective January 1, 2003 and to $20.00 
effective February 1, 2011. These fees are collected by 

air carriers under an agreement between the Authority, 
the Air Transport Association of Canada, and the air 
carriers serving the airport. Under the agreement, AIF 
revenues may only be used to pay for the capital and 
related financing costs of major airport infrastructure 
development. AIF revenues are recorded net of collection 
fees of 6% withheld by air carriers of $2,557 thousand 
(2011 - $2,447 thousand). 

The AIF will continue to be collected until the cumulative excess of expenditures over AIF receipts is reduced to zero. 

Retained earnings of the Authority as at December 31 are as follows:

  2012 Cumulative
  to date
Major infrastructure construction program expenditures:     
    
Passenger terminal building, parking garage, airside and landside 
infrastructure and other expenditures $ 18,856 $ 504,359
    
Interest capitalized  -  18,096
    
Interest expensed (including internal interest on funds 
provided by operations)  22,913  201,868
    
  41,769  724,323
AIF cash receipts:    
    
 AIF revenue – net of collection fees  39,379  329,260
 Interest on surplus funds  118  10,095
   39,497  339,355
 Increase in accounts receivable  (629)  (2,953)
    
 AIF revenue – net cash received  38,868  336,402
    
Excess of expenditures over AIF Receipts $ 2,901 $ 387,921
    

 2012 2011
    
Retained earnings provided by airport improvement fees:    
 Accumulated airport improvement fees and interest on surplus funds  $ 339,355 $ 299,858 
    
Less: 
 Accumulated depreciation of infrastructure program assets  143,599  126,352
 Interest and other expenses  207,507  184,032
   (11,751)  (10,527)
    
Retained earnings provided by other operations  58,809  52,279
    
Retained earnings, end of year $  47,058  $ 41,752
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9. Pension Plan and Post  
 Retirement Benefits 
     (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

The post employment benefit liability included in the 
balance sheet as a long-term liability is as follows:

  December 31, December 31, 
  2012 2011 

Defined benefit pension 
   plan deficit $ 10,349 $ 8,916
Other post-employment 
   benefits payable  8,405  9,376

  $ 18,754 $ 18,292

The Authority sponsors and funds a pension plan for 
its employees, which has defined benefit and defined 
contribution components. 

Under the defined contribution plan, the Authority pays 
fixed contributions into an independent entity. The 
Authority has no legal or constructive obligation to 
pay further contributions after its payment of the fixed 
contribution. 

The defined benefit plan includes employees who were 
employees of the Authority on the date of transfer, 
including former Transport Canada employees, the majority 
of whom transferred their vested benefits from the Public 
Service Superannuation Plan to the Authority’s pension 
plan.  Pension benefits payable under the defined benefit 
component of the plan are based on members’ years of 
service and the average of the best six years’ consecutive 
earnings near retirement up to the maximums allowed by law. 
Benefits are indexed annually to reflect the increase in the 
consumer price index to a maximum of 8% in any one year. 
Pension plan costs are charged to operations as services are 
rendered based on an actuarial valuation of the obligation. 

In addition to pension plan benefits, the Authority provides 
other post-employment and retirement benefits to its 
employees including health care insurance and lump sum 
payments upon retirement or termination of employment. 
The Authority accrues the cost of these future benefits 
as employees render their services based on an actuarial 
valuation. This plan is not funded. 

At the last actuarial valuation of the pension plan as at 
December 31, 2011 that was completed and filed in June 
2012 as required by law, the plan had a deficit on a funding 
(going concern) basis of $1,813,000. This amount differs 
from the amount reflected below primarily because the 

obligation is calculated using the discount rate that 
represents the expected long-term rate of return of assets. 
For accounting purposes, it is calculated using an interest 
rate determined with reference to market rates on high-
quality debt instruments with cash flows that match the 
timing and amount of expected benefit payments. 

The Pension Benefits Standards Act, 1985 requires that a 
solvency analysis of the plan be performed to determine 
the financial position (on a “solvency basis”) of the plan 
as if it were fully terminated on the valuation date due 
to insolvency of the sponsor or a decision to terminate. 
At the last actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2011, 
the plan had a deficit on a solvency basis of $15,810,000 
($11,051,000 as at December 31, 2010) before considering 
the present value of additional solvency payments required 
under the Act.  In 2012, the Authority made additional 
solvency payments of $2,360,900 ($1,871,000 in 2011) to 
amortize this deficiency. 

The next required actuarial valuation of the defined benefit 
pension plan as at December 31, 2012 is scheduled to be 
completed and filed by its June 2013 due date. The plan’s 
funded position and the amounts of solvency payments 
required under The Pension Benefits Standards Act, 1985 
are subject to fluctuations in interest rates. It is expected 
that, once the actuarial valuation is completed, the 
additional solvency payments that will be required for 2013 
will be in line with the amounts paid in 2012 ($2,360,900). 

Based on calculations by the Authority’s actuaries included 
in the actuarial valuation as at December 31, 2011, the 
impact of a 1% increase in interest rates will decrease the 
funding (going concern) deficit by $6 million and will 
decrease the solvency deficit by $9.4 million. A decrease 
of 1% will have the same amount of impact on each 
calculation, but will increase the deficits. 

As allowed by Part 3 of the Solvency Funding Relief 
Regulations of the Pension Benefits Standards Act, 1985, 
in 2007 the Authority provided a standby letter of credit 
in favour of the plan which was subsequently increased in 
amount in accordance with the regulations. The amount of 
the letter of credit was $2,058,000 as at December 31, 2011. 
Effective January 1, 2012, the letter of credit was no longer 
required under the Regulations.

Based on the most recent actuarial determination of 
pension plan benefits completed as at December 31, 2011 
and extrapolated to December 31, 2012, the status of the 
defined benefit pension plan is as follows: 
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   2012  2011
Accrued Benefit Obligation, 
defined benefit pension   
                      
  Balance, beginning of year $  43,887 $ 35,341
  Employee contributions  209  483
  Benefits paid  (1,193)  (1,032)
  Current service cost  837  797
  Interest cost on accrued benefit 
     obligation  2,070  2,066
  Actuarial loss  4,834  6,232
    
  Balance, end of year  50,644  43,887
    
Plan Assets
    
  Fair value, beginning of year  34,971  31,918
  Employee contributions  209  483
  Employer contributions   684  758
  Employer contributions, 
    special solvency payments  2,361  1,871
  Benefits paid  (1,193)  (1,032)
  Interest on plan assets (net of 
     administrative expenses)  1,612  1,806
  Actuarial gain (loss) on 
     plan assets  1,651  (833)
      
  Fair value, end of year  40,295  34,971
    
Funded Status – plan deficit   $ 10,349   $ 8,916 
    

The net defined benefit pension plan expense for the year 
ended December 31, 2012 is as follows:

  2012 2011
    
Current service cost $ 837    $ 797
Interest cost on accrued 
   benefit obligation  2,070  2,066
Interest on plan assets   (1,612)  (1,806)
    
Defined benefit pension plan 
   expense recognized in salaries and 
   benefits expense in net earnings $ 1,295 $ 1,057
    
Amount recognized in other 
   comprehensive income – 
   actuarial loss $ 3,183   $ 7,065

In addition to pension benefits, the Authority provides other 
post-employment and retirement benefits to its employees. 
The status of post-employment and retirement benefit plans 
as at December 31 is as follows:

 2012 2011
Accrued benefit obligation, other 
  post-employment benefits
  
  Balance beginning of year  $ 9,376 $ 7,763
  Benefits paid 
    (employer contributions)  (184)  (164)
  Current service cost  534  453
  Interest cost  467  447
  Actuarial loss (gain)  (1,788)  877

Accrued benefit liability, 
  end of year $ 8,405  $ 9,376
    

The net expense for other post-employment and retirement   
benefits for the year ended December 31, 2012 is as follows:

 2012 2011
    
Current service cost $ 534  $ 453
  Interest cost  467  447

Expense recognized in salaries and 
  benefits expense in net earnings $ 1,001  $ 900
    
Amount recognized in other 
  comprehensive income – 
  actuarial (gain) loss ($ 1,788) $ 877

The costs of the defined benefit component of the pension 
plan and of other post-employment and retirement benefits 
are actuarially determined using the projected benefit 
method prorated on services. This determination reflects 
management’s best estimates of the rate of return on plan 
assets, rate of salary increases, and various other factors 
including mortality, termination, and retirement rates.
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The significant economic assumptions used by the 
Authority’s actuaries in measuring the Authority’s accrued 
benefit obligations as at December 31 are as follows:

 2012 2011
    
Discount rate to determine expense  4.75%  5.50%
Discount rate to determine 
   year end obligations  4.00%  4.75%
Interest rate on plan assets  4.75%  5.50%
Rate of average compensation increases  3.75%  3.75%
Rate of increases in health care costs       3% to 7%  8.00%
The trend rate for increases in health 
   care costs decreases gradually to 
   ultimately increase after 20 years by    3.00%  5.00%

The investment policy for the pension plan’s defined benefit 
funds was revised in early 2012 to adopt a “glide-path” 
de-risking strategy.  Under this strategy, the proportion 
of liability matching assets (fixed income funds) will be 
increased and the proportion of growth assets (equity and 
other funds) will be decreased over time as the average 
age of active members increases and as the plan’s solvency 
ratio improves.  The defined benefit plan is a closed plan.  
As at the last actuarial valuation at December 31, 2011, the 
average age of the 40 active members was 52 years of age.  
The average age of the 43 retired members was 65 years of age.

In accordance with the investment policy for the pension 
plan’s defined benefit funds, as at December 31 the 
plan’s non-current, non-cash assets are invested in funds 
maintained by Standard Life Assurance Company of Canada 
and managed by various investment managers as follows: 

 2012 2011
    
Fixed income fund  40%  46%
Equity funds – Canadian funds  12%   15%
Equity funds – US fund  5%  17%
Equity funds – International and 
   Global funds  19%  10%
Emerging market fund  6%  3%
Real estate fund  12%  9%
Alternative investment fund that 
   includes derivatives  6%  0%
     

The Authority’s contribution to the defined contribution 
component of the pension plan is a maximum of 7% of the 
employee’s gross earnings.  Information on this component 
is as follows: 

 2012 2011
    
Employer contributions, defined 
   contribution plan $ 557     $ 496   
Employees’ contributions, defined 
   contribution plan $ 680 $ 654   
Net expense recognized in salaries 
   and benefits expense $ 557  $ 496

10.  Financial Instruments      
 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Fair values
The Authority’s bank indebtedness, cash and cash 
equivalents and its debt service reserve fund are reflected 
in the financial statements at fair values.  Fair values reflect 
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities (level 1).  The fair value of the bonds is estimated 
by calculating the present value of future cash flows based 
on year-end benchmark interest rates and credit spreads 
for similar instruments.  As at December 31, 2012, the 
estimated fair value of the long-term Series B and  
Series D Revenue bonds was $189.0 million and  
$222.7 million respectively (2011 - $184.4 million and 
$224.3 million respectively). Fair values of other long-term 
debt are similar to their carrying values taking into account 
their maturity dates and current market rates for the same 
or similar instruments.   

Risk Management
The Authority is exposed to a number of risks as a 
result of the financial instruments on its balance sheet 
that can affect its operating performance.  These risks 
include interest rate risk, liquidity risk, credit risk, and 
concentration risk.  The Authority’s financial instruments 
are not subject to foreign exchange risk or other price risk.  

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future 
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates.  
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The following financial instruments are subject to interest rate risk as at December 31:

 2012 2011
 Carrying value Effective year-end Carrying value Effective year-end
Cash and cash equivalents  interest rate  interest rate
   (at floating rates)                     $ Nil  0.0% $ Nil  0.0%
Bank indebtedness 
   (at floating rates)                           $ 9,385 2.63% $ 6,675 2.75%
Debt service reserve fund 
   (at floating rates)                           $ 10,747  1.10% $ 10,629  1.10%
Long-term debt (at fixed rates)                   $ 339,874 See Note 7 $ 341,731 See Note 7

The Authority has entered into fixed rate long-term debt, 
and accordingly, the impact of interest rate fluctuations 
has no effect on interest payments until such time as 
this debt is to be refinanced. Changes in prevailing 
benchmark interest rates and credit spreads, however, may 
impact the fair value of this debt.  The Authority’s most 
significant exposure to interest-rate risk relates to its future 
anticipated borrowings and refinancing, which are not 
expected to occur in the near-term.  

In addition, the Authority’s bank indebtedness, cash 
and cash equivalents, and its debt service reserve fund 
are subject to floating interest rates.  Management has 
oversight over interest rates that apply to its cash and cash 
equivalents, and its debt service reserve fund. These funds 
are invested from time to time in short-term bankers’ 
acceptances permitted by the Master Trust Indenture, 
while maintaining liquidity for purposes of investing in the 
Authority’s capital programs. Management has oversight 
over interest rates that apply to its bank indebtedness and 
fixes these rates for short term periods of up to 90 days 
based on bankers’ acceptance rates.  

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (0.50%) higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, including 
timing of expenditures related to the Authority’s capital 
expenditure programs, the Authority’s earnings for the year 
would have increased/decreased by $ 40 thousand as a result 
of the Authority’s exposure to interest rates on its floating 
rate assets and liabilities. Management believes, however, 
that this exposure is not representative of the exposure 
during the year, and that interest income is not essential to 
the Authority’s operations as these assets are intended for 
reinvestment in airport operations and development, and 
not for purposes of generating interest income.  

Liquidity risk
The Authority manages its liquidity risks by maintaining 
adequate cash and credit facilities, by updating and reviewing 
multi-year cash flow projections on a regular and as-needed 
basis, and by matching its long-term financing arrangements 
with its cash flow needs.  In view of its excellent credit ratings, 
the Authority has ready access to sufficient long-term funds as 

well as committed lines of credit through credit facilities with 
two Canadian banks.  

The Authority is unregulated in its ability to raise its rates and 
charges as required to meet its obligations.  Under the Master 
Trust Indenture entered into by the Authority in connection 
with its debt offerings (see Note 7), the Authority is required 
to take action, such as increasing its rates, should its projected 
debt service coverage ratio fall below 1.0.  If this debt service 
covenant is not met in any year, the Authority is not in default 
of its obligations under the Master Trust Indenture as long 
as the test is met in the subsequent year.  Because of the 
Authority’s unfettered ability to increase rates and charges it 
expects to continue to have sufficient liquidity to cover all of 
its obligations as they come due, including interest payments 
of approximately $20 million per year.  The future annual 
principal payment requirements of the Authority’s obligations 
under its long-term debt are described in Note 7(e). 

Credit and concentration risks
The Authority is subject to credit risk through its cash and 
cash equivalents, its debt service reserve fund, and its trade 
and other receivables.  The counterparties of cash and cash 
and equivalents and the debt service reserve fund are highly 
rated Canadian financial institutions.  The trade and other 
receivables consist primarily of current aeronautical fees 
and airport improvement fees owing from air carriers.  The 
majority of the Authority’s accounts receivable are paid 
within 35 days of the date that they are due.  A significant 
portion of the Authority’s revenues, and resulting receivable 
balances, are derived from air carriers.  The Authority 
performs ongoing credit valuations of receivable balances 
and maintains an allowance for potential credit losses.  The 
Authority’s right under the Airport Transfer (Miscellaneous 
Matters) Act to seize and detain aircraft until outstanding 
aeronautical fees are paid mitigates the risk of credit losses.  

 The Authority derives approximately 46% (47% in 2011) 
of its landing fee and terminal fee revenue from Air 
Canada and its affiliates. Management believes, however, 
that the Authority’s long-term exposure to any single 
airline is mitigated by the fact that approximately 90% 
of the passenger traffic through the airport is origin and 
destination traffic, and therefore other carriers are likely to 
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absorb the traffic of any carrier that ceases operations.  In 
addition, the Authority’s unfettered ability to increase its 
rates and charges mitigates the impact of these risks. 

11. Commitments and  Contingencies 
Commitments 
On January 31, 1997, the Authority signed a 60-year ground 
lease with the Government of Canada (Transport Canada) 
for the management, operation and development of Ottawa 
International Airport. The ground lease contains provisions 
for compliance with a number of requirements, including 
environmental standards, minimum insurance coverage, 
specific accounting and reporting requirements, and various 
other matters that have a significant effect on the day-to-day 
operation of the Airport.  The Authority believes that it has 
complied with all requirements under the ground lease.  

The lease contains a 20-year renewal option.  The Authority 
has initiated the process to amend its lease to extend the 
lease term by these 20 years.   At the end of the renewal term, 
unless otherwise extended, the Authority is obligated to return 
control of the airport to the landlord.

In 2005, the Government of Canada announced the 
adoption of a new rent policy that has resulted in reduced 
rent for Canadian airport authorities, including the Ottawa 
International Airport Authority.  Under the new formula, rent 
is calculated as a royalty based on a percentage of gross annual 
revenues on a progressive scale.  

Based on forecasts of future revenues (which are subject to 
change depending on economic conditions and changes in the 
Authority’s rates and fees), estimated ground rent payments 
under this arrangement for the next five years are as follows:

 2013  $   8.0 million
 2014 $   8.3 million
 2015  $   8.6 million
 2016  $   9.0 million
 2017 $   9.3 million

The Authority has operating commitments in the ordinary 
course of business requiring payments of $ 9.5 million in 
2013 and diminishing in each year over the next 5 years as 
contracts expire.  At December 31, 2012, the total  
of these operating commitments amounted to  
$23.1 million.  These commitments are in addition 
to contracts for the purchase of property, plant, and 
equipment of approximately $ 28.2 million.  

Contingencies
The Authority is party to legal proceedings in the ordinary 
course of its business.  Because these are not significant 
in amount and are covered by the Authority’s insurance 

policies, management does not expect the outcome of any 
of these proceedings to have a material adverse effect on the 
financial position or results of operations of the Authority.

12. Changes in Non-Cash Working  
 Capital Related to Operations
 (in thousands of Canadian dollars)
 
 2012 2011
    
Trade and other receivables $ (530)  $ (213)
Prepaids and advances and 
   consumable supplies  (184)  32
Accounts payable and 
   accrued liabilities  (1,787)  202

 $ (2,501) $ 21

13. Related Party Transactions 
          (in thousands of Canadian dollars)

Key management includes the Authority’s fourteen 
directors (twelve at the end of 2011) and members of the 
executive team, including the President and CEO, and five 
vice-presidents (six during 2011).  

Compensation paid, payable, or provided by the Authority 
to key management personnel during the year ended 
December 31 was as follows:

  2012  2011
   
Salaries and short-term 
   benefits $ 2,011 $ 2,002
Post-employment benefits  208  214
   
 $ 2,219        $ 2,216

The defined pension plan referred to in Note 9 is a related 
party to the Authority.  The Authority’s transactions with 
the pension plan include contributions paid to the plan, 
which are disclosed in Note 9.  The Authority has not 
entered into other transactions with the pension plan and 
has no outstanding balances with the pension plan at the 
balance sheet date. 

14.  Post-Reporting Date Events 

No adjusting or significant non-adjusting events have 
occurred between the reporting date and March 4, 2013 
when the financial statements were authorized for issue.
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Bon Voyage, Paul

How do you encapsulate nearly 17 years of words, expressions, 
wisdom and leadership? It’s not easy, but thanks to input from 
the Airport Authority team, the following is a summary of the 
impact that Paul Benoit has had on the organization and the 
people who have worked with and for him over the years, and 
some of the words and phrases that stood out the most.

Whether standing on his 2nd floor perch in the old terminal or 
watching from the windows of his office in the new terminal, 
Paul had both eyes on the happenings in his airport. Everyone 
would agree that not much got by him during his tenure – 
he knew what was going on at all times, everywhere. This 
was due to the relationships he established with not only his 
own employees, but people from organizations across the 
campus. The talks he had kept him in the loop concerning 
labour relations, told him about issues and problems, and 
provided him with the opportunity to fix situations before they 
escalated.

Being in the know also meant being aware of what was 
happening with people. Whether an Authority employee, 
someone from an airline or a contractor, Paul was committed 
to the wellbeing of the team and regularly asked after 
someone’s personal situation, health or about a member of 
their family. These interactions have left a permanent mark on 
everyone who came into contact with Paul over the years, and 
everyone appreciated the care and concern.

Paul led the team with passion and conviction, during the 
highest highs and the lowest lows. And he demanded the 
same level of passion from those who worked with him. 
His attitude and commitment earned him the respect of 
his team, and his belief in the team encouraged everyone 
to push a little harder and to believe in themselves a little 
more. “Leaders must see the dream in their mind before the 
dream can be accomplished with their team” sums up his 
philosophy very well.

It was well known that half-measures didn’t cut it for Paul 
– it’s always been all or nothing. This standard made him 
somewhat of a legend in the airport and aviation world, but 
it also earned him the respect of his peers and his employees. 
Many have said that when Paul speaks, people listen, which is 
something we have all witnessed time and again.

When you turn around, at the end of the day, there’s no one 
quite like Paul - he was the heart and soul of the organization, 
and he will be missed. But everyone has their own memories 
of Paul – memories that will no doubt bring a smile for many 
years to come.
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